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VISION, MISSION & values

our vision
A nation of healthy and happy people

our mission

Empowering individuals to take ownership of
their health through:

Being a centre of excellence for health
promotion, disease prevention and patient
education

Establishing, engaging and supporting local
and international partnerships

Being a people-centred organisation that
inspires and enables our employees to
realise their full potential
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our values

Care and concern

We show care and concern for the well being of

our staff and all Singapore residents

Professionalism

We do our work with expert knowledge and skills

Integrity

We maintain a high standard of ethics and
manage resources responsibly

Respect

We treat everyone with respect

Commitment

We are committed to do our best

Innovation

We constantly seek new and better ways to
promote health
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chairman’s message

“Living well is not
only about keeping
ourselves in the
best of health, but
also sharing with
those around us
and inspiring them
to do the same.”
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The Health Promotion Board has been a World Health Organization (WHO)
Collaborating Centre for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention since 2007. |
must say that HPB has been the outstanding flagbearer for such a responsibility
and it has been working hard at sharing its expertise with Singaporeans. But | also
note that in the past year, HPB has extended its presence beyond our shores, into
homes, minds and governments the world over.

One great example of this is when HPB hosted the 15th World Conference on
Tobacco or Health in March 2012. About 2,500 local and international delegates
from 100 countries came to share best practices, knowledge and expertise at a
series of workshops, plenaries and symposiums. HPB showcased its ground-up
approach in creating smoke-free environments, with | Quit champions sharing their
valuable first-hand experiences in adopting a smoke-free lifestyle.

Also in the last year, HPB has added yet another Centre of Excellence under their
belt — the Centre of Excellence (Nutrition). A Centre of Excellence is defined as

an entity that is in the position to be a leader in an area of focus and share best
practices backed by strong research. HPB's nutrition department was in good
placing, having made headway toward creating healthier nutrition choices for
Singaporeans with initiatives such as Healthier Hawker Centres in the past year.

One of the latest initiatives by the
Centre of Excellence (Nutrition) is the
FINEST Food programme, which aims
to share best practices with the local
food manufacturing industry. The board
arms these companies with knowledge
and skills to encourage them to develop
healthier, functional food products, to
address nutritional and health needs

of the Singapore population. This is
especially pertinent in the face of a
rapidly ageing population, rising obesity
and chronic diseases like diabetes, high
blood pressure and heart health. This
new financial year will be an exciting
year for the Centre of Excellence
(Nutrition) as they roll out a number of
prototypes they had instated in 2011.

Also by way of putting HPB on the
map, the Board’s marketing and
communications efforts have paid off.
Through the strategic use of mass
media, HPB has managed to effectively
convey important health messages

to Singaporeans. Our colorectal

cancer awareness campaign, reached
Singaporeans in the form of a heart-
warming short film, ‘Kaki’, played by
two characters that Singaporeans
could immediately connect with —

Ong and Raj. With local producer
Royston Tan at the helm, everything
from the language to the poignant
cinematography captured the hearts
and attention of Singaporeans,
shedding light on an otherwise difficult
topic of discussion. This was set amidst
a community outreach effort which saw
more than 800 staff mobilised at 34

locations all over the island distributing
the colorectal test kits and teaching
the elderly how to collect and send
samples in for testing.

For this effort, the Board garnered
widespread media coverage as well

as a bronze Viewers’ Choice Award.
The marketing campaign was also
recognised as finalists for Best TV
Campaign in the Singapore Advertising
Hall of Fame Awards 2011 and the Effie
Awards 2012. The Board’s smoking
cessation campaigns, | Quit and Live it
Up without Lighting Up, also picked up
bronze awards for Most Effective Use
of Advertising in the Asian Marketing
Effectiveness Awards 2012 and the
Effie Awards 2011, respectively. ‘Ah
Kong’, a short film about an elderly
man beset with dementia, also picked
up a silver at the Effie Awards 2011.

Beyond the traditional means of mass
media, HPB also concentrated its
efforts developing mobile applications,
recognising that Singapore has the
highest rate of smart-phone ownership
in the world. The Interactive Diet and
Activity Tracker (IDAT) calculates one’s
calorie intake and offsets the number of
calories burnt through physical activity,
while the | Quit iPhone application is

a 24/7 smoke-free companion which
helps profile users so as to tailor the
most effective approach for them to quit
smoking. The Healthy Chef app provides
healthier but delicious recipes created
by renowned chefs. Collectively, these
three apps have achieved about 75,000

downloads, with various stories from the
health-conscious around the world who
have used the apps to great success.

With this new financial year, | would
also like to extend a warm welcome
to our new Board of Directors who
you will get to ‘meet’ in the next few
pages. They each bring with them a
wealth of experience and knowledge
from different backgrounds and areas
of expertise. Together, we hope to bring
Singaporeans to even higher levels of
health literacy and programmes that
would directly address their needs,
wants and aspirations so that living

in this island nation becomes more
meaningful for all of us.

Lucas Chow
Chairman
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CEQO’s message

“To me, living is
being able to live
long, and live well.”

We've themed this annual report,
“Living is...” as it is important

that the Health Promotion Board
understands the lives and aspirations
of Singaporeans in order to help them
realise their health ideals. With greater
affluence and constant advancements
in technology, our expectations have
also evolved as we look beyond survival
to a better quality of life.

So the question is: how can HPB
engage the public better to shape a
shared vision of a ‘Healthy Nation'?
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How can we respond to their ever-changing needs effectively, urgently and
sustainably? What does health mean to Singaporeans?

These questions are the main drivers behind HPB’s ground-up approach which

we have implemented since 2011. To bring focus to this effort, we also set up a
new division — Community Partnerships. This new division has enabled us to forge
deeper relationships with the people we serve, and to work with community leaders
to co-plan, and co-create solutions that better reflect local needs.

But the solution isn’t as easy as setting up a new division and expecting it to
take flight. There are three underlying principles that have driven our engagement
with Singaporeans.

The first is the speed of delivery. Many of our most pressing health challenges

like obesity require urgent preventive action, and we have adopted a prototyping
approach that allows us to rapidly create solutions and extract best practices for
subsequent roll-out to other areas. In the case of introducing healthier ingredients
to create healthier meals, we started with a prototype in the Yuhua Hawker Centre
to come up with healthier versions of Singaporean favourites like Char Kway Teow

and chicken rice. We learnt from the
experience and subsequently extended
this to our school canteens. While

the Youth Health division was already
working hard with schools to ensure
that canteens do not serve too much
deep fried food and sweet beverages,
we wanted to also widen the range

of healthy alternatives. HPB rolled

out its first Healthier School Canteen
meal at Wellington Primary School
within a month of the time the idea
was conceived. The initiative presents
children with a variety of nutritionally-
palanced set meals that include fruits,
vegetables and whole grains.

From the first prototype in Yuhua
Hawker Centre, the solution has since
been extended to three other hawker
centres, two coffee shops, a chain

of preschools, 14 primary and three
secondary schools.

The second principle we worked on
was that of co-creation and shared
ownership. In this savvy, well-informed
society, the best way to engage with
our audience is to include them in
shaping what they want, where they
want it. To create a large-scale social
movement, Deputy Prime Minister
Teo Chee Hean launched the Health
Ambassador Network at the National
Healthy Lifestyle Campaign 2011,
announcing HPB’s plans to raise an
army of 10,000 health ambassadors
by the year 2015. Many of these
health ambassadors are our strongest
advocates, and contribute their time

and energy to work with us to shape
programmes in their communities.
Our health ambassadors draw from

a wide spectrum of society, from
undergraduates to retirees. We are
happy to report that we are on track
with the recruitment and training,

and celebrated our first batch of
graduates on Health Ambassador Day
in February 2012.

Third but of no less importance is
sustainability. One good example is
our Integrated Screening Programme.
To encourage our senior citizens to
screen regularly, HPB brings a suite

of screening services right to their
neighbourhood centres. This means
that within a couple of hours, an elderly
resident would be able to get screened
for all the key ailments that they need
to be tested for, including chronic
diseases, selected cancers and various
functions such as hearing, balance,
continence, eyesight and dental
health. To value-add, a GP, dentist and
optometrist are deployed on site to
give the elderly immediate follow-up
attention, saving them travel time and
money. This on-site referral proved to
be effective and increased the follow-
up rate five-fold. Screened elderly are
also channelled to local community
initiatives for healthy lifestyle; such as
brisk walking groups to engage them
physically and mentally. The overall
objective is to help seniors get tested
and get early intervention so they nip
their problems in the bud, and avoid
extensive medical treatment later on.

In our rapidly ageing society, we need
to ensure that this effort is sustainable.
In order to do this, we work closely
with the Grassroots Committees to
help reach out to their residents and
collaborate with the private sector

to help keep the costs low. This
integrated screening prototype is in
the process of being rolled out at all
constituencies by the end of 2013. By
making it accessible and affordable, the
programme will be sustainable as there
continues to be a strong demand for
HPB's services.

Through the year, we've come to realise
that Singaporeans, too, no longer just
want long lives, but long lives of the
best quality possible. This is why 2012
will see HPB scaling up its programmes
to the community, so Singaporeans
can look forward to more dynamic,
innovative programmes that inspire
them to live better and healthier.

Whether it is to be smoke-free, manage
chronic diseases better, to have easy
access to nutritious meals or to simply
be more physically active, HPB will be
there for you. | wish all Singaporeans
the very best of health.

Ang Hak Seng
Chief Executive Officer
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feature

5™ WORLD

CONFERENCE

ON TOBACCO OR

HEALTH

HPB had the honour of organising the 15" World Conference on Tobacco or Health

(WCTOH) from 20 to 24 March 2012

Years of planning, hard work and
contributions by staff across all
divisions culminated in the five-

day conference. Themed “Thinking
Globally, Acting Locally”, the event
brought together more than 2,500 local
and international delegates from 100
countries to champion global tobacco-
control efforts.

Both the two-day pre-conference

and the main conference were a
resounding success, with tobacco-
control professionals sharing best
practices, knowledge and expertise at
fully subscribed workshops, plenaries
and symposiums.

Singapore and its comprehensive
tobacco-control efforts were
showcased to the global community
through more than 30 presentations
over the course of the conference. To
complement the presentations, HPB
also set up the Singapore Experience
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Launch of the 15th WCTOH by (from left) Prof Harry Lando (Co-Chair, International Liaison Group on
Tobacco or Health), Dr Margaret Chan (Director-General, WHO), Mr Gan Kim Yong (Minister for Health,
Singapore), Mr Ang Hak Seng [Chief Executive Officer (CEO), HPB] and Prof Philip Eng (President,
15th WCTOH).

“l commend the Health
Promotion Board of
Singapore for organising an
excellent conference. The
alliances that were formed
here, the information and
resources that were shared
here, have galvanised the
global tobacco control
movement. | am sure | speak
for all the participants that
when we leave, we are
better prepared to work for
full implementation of the
WHO Framework Convention
on Tobacco Control and a
tobacco-free world.”

DR MARGARET CHAN

DIRECTOR-GENERAL
WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

home.

THE STRAITS

S’pore aims to make
smoke-free the norm

Health Minister
shares country’s
experience at summit

By SaLma KnALIK
HEALTH CORRESPONDENT

SINGAPORE wants to become a place
where being smoke-free is the norm.
It was heading that way when smok-
ing rates went down from 18.3 per
cent in 1992 to an all-time low of 12.6
per cent in 2004.

But numbers have crept up and
now stand at 14.3 per cent, due to a
“significant increase” in younger
smokers aged 18-29, said Health Minis-
ter Gan Kim Yong yesterday.

To counter this, Singapore an-
nounced earlier this month that it will
align tax for all tobacco products to
stop users from shifting to cheaper al-
ternatives, and getting non-smokers
to help smokers quit.

Speaking at the opening of the
World Congress on Tobacco or
Health, Mr Gan said this bad habit
puts a toll on health-care expenditure,
and results in loss of productivity and
absenteeism.

For individuals, spending on tobac-
co means “income is diverted away
from meaningful and more important
household purchases and investment
such as healthy food and education”.

Painting a broader picture, he
blamed tobacco use for killing five mil-

Representatives of Asean member nations at the opening of the World Congress on
Tobacco or Health yesterday. PHOTO: LIANHE ZAOBAO

lion people worldwide each year - or
about 12 per cent of adult deaths.

On top of that, another 600,000
people die from inhaling second-hand
smoke yearly. He said: “Tobacco kills
more than tuberculosis, HIV/Aids and
malaria combined.”

He also told the 2,600 delegates
from 124 countries - including six oth-
er health ministers - of Singapore’s
fight against smoking which dates
back four decades.

“We were the first country in Asia
to ban tobacco advertisements in 1971.
We have also progressively banned

smoking in public places since 1970.

“In 2004, we were the first country
in Asia to implement requirements for
all cigarette packets to bear graphic
pictures warning smokers about the
dangers of smoking.”

The five-day meeting, held every
three years since 1967, is recognised
as an important forum for internation-
al collaboration on the subject, and is
attended by policymakers, health-care
workers, scientists and academics.

This year’s event at Suntec Conven-
tion Centre was organised by the
Health Promotion Board (HPB). Partic-

ipants are expected to discuss issues
such as whether plain or gory packag-
ing for cigarettes is more effective in
reducing its use, whether rich tobacco
fes are ing stop k-
ing drives and the effectiveness of
smoke-free zones and taxation.

HPB chief executive officer Ang
Hak Seng in his speech said Mr Gan
has given him the task of bringing
smoking in the country down to 10 per
cent by 2020.

He revealed that less than 8 per
cent of smokers who quit were able to
stay off for a year because of peer pres-
sure from friends who smoke.

The HPB will try to counter this
with support for those trying to make
it, he said, noting that the best encour-
agement is from a former smoker.

Dr Margaret Chan, the World
Health Organisation’s director-gener-
al, in her keynote address at the open-
ing ceremony yesterday, hit out at to-
bacco firms for trying to derail anti-
smoking campaigns in countries like
Uruguay, Norway, Australia and Tur-
Key.

“Big money can speak louder than
any moral, ethical or public health ar-
gument, and can trample even the
most damning scientific evidence.”

Calling smoking a “killing addic-
tion”, she said: “Tobacco use is the
world’s No. 1 preventable killer.”

Stopping smoking, she added,
“would deliver the single biggest pre-
ventive blow to heart disease, cancer,
diabetes and respiratory disease”.

Dr Surin Pitsuwan, Asean secre-
tary-general, said 125 million of
Asean’s population of 600 million are
smokers. Some member countries, he
added, still rely heavily on the revenue
from tobacco, and ignore the expense
caused by smoking.

He announced, to great applause,
that the Asean secretariat in Jakarta
will be smoke-free from April 1.

Yesterday, the 10 member nations
also pledged to create a smoke-free re-
gion.

salma@sph.com.sg
I www.facebook.com/ST.Salma

booth, an interactive display of Singapore’s ground-up ecosystemic approach in
creating smoke-free environments.

HPB'’s Health Ambassadors were at these booths to share their experiences in
advocating a smoke-free lifestyle. There was also keen interest in the Blue Ribbon
initiative that encourages smoke-free living environments, as well as the “I Quit”
mobile application to support smoking cessation.

The conference has been a catalyst for greater global and regional commitment
from governments and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) against the
tobacco industry, with Dr Margaret Chan, the Director-General of the World Health
Organization (WHO), leading the call during her keynote address.

The opening ceremony also saw Dr Surin Pitsuwan, the Secretary-General of the
Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), as well as ASEAN Health Ministers
and country representatives, pledging their commitment to promote unified action
towards smoke-free environments in ASEAN nations. This steadfast commitment
was reflected in the 15" WCTOH Declaration at the end of the conference, where
delegates resolved to stand firm together to further tobacco-control efforts.
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feature feature

WCTOH YOUTH NATIONAL HEALTY
PRE-CONFERENCE LIFESTYLE CAMPAIGN

In conjunction with the 15th WCTOH, the Youth Health Division (YHD) organised The Health Promotion Board’s annual landmark event marked a giant leap
the youth pre-conference on 19 and 20 March 2012 forward in spreading health literacy

To encourage Singapore residents to embrace healthy lifestyle
habits and integrate these habits in their daily lives, National
Healthy Lifestyle Campaign (NHLC) 2011 focused on creating
a social movement by tapping on members of the community.
Deputy Prime Minister Teo Chee Hean kicked off the annual
campaign at the Sengkang Community Club, which saw the
launch of the new Health Ambassador Network, as well as a
commitment to raise health literacy in Singapore.

In addition, the Board also embarked on a framework

of implementing health-promoting ecosystems across
Singapore. These comprise health-promoting malls, schooals,
MRT stations, community clubs and hawker centres. These
health-promoting ecosystems are conveniently designed and
placed throughout the island to make healthy living easily
accessible to every family in Singapore.

NHLC 2011 also saw the launch of the Interactive Diet and

Youths from tertiary institutions leading the “Live It Up Without Lighting Up” Global Movement launch. ACtIVI’[y Tracker (lDA-Dv a free Smadphone apphcahon to help
Singapore residents better manage their personal health.

A total of 74 tobacco-control advocates aged between 17
and 33 years attended the two-day workshop to learn best
practices in tobacco-control advocacy. The youth delegates
also conceptualised regional plans to tackle tobacco industry
interference, and these were implemented on World No
Tobacco Day 2012.

About 700 international and local youths also participated

in the launch of the “Live It Up Without Lighting Up” Global
Movement — a social movement that spurs youths to pursue
their talents and engage in positive activities instead of
negative ones such as smoking.

HPB has commissioned an original song and dance

to launch the movement, which youths worldwide can

download to create their own peer-led “Live It Up Without

Lighting Up” initiative. Delegates working on their tobacco-control regional action plan.

Health Promotion Board Health Promotion Board
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feature

10 YEARS

OF INSPIRING
HEALTHY LIVING

HPB marked its first decade with a nationwide healthy lifestyle programme and
the launch of national colorectal cancer screening programme

As part of its 10th year anniversary, the Health Promotion
Board (HPB) involved its entire staff in a series of community
events in 34 community clubs nationwide. HPB staff spent

the morning engaging with more than 4,000 needy and aged
residents by demonstrating ways to lead healthier lifestyles
through interactive games and physical activity demonstrations.
This ground-up initiative aimed to empower members of the
community with knowledge so that they become inspirations
to their peers and loved ones and create a sustainable
momentum of healthy living.

One key message of the day’s programme was the
importance of screening for colorectal cancer, Singapore’s

Health Promotion Board
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number one cancer among men. The cancer ranks number
two among women, after breast cancer, and often shows no
symptoms in its early stages. There are close to 1,460 newly
diagnosed cases and 640 deaths in Singapore related to
colorectal cancer each year.

To increase awareness of the cancer to all Singapore
residents, HPB also launched a short film that day. Entitled
‘Kaki’, the film was also adapted to shorter television, print
and radio commercials to address the misconceptions people
have towards screening for colorectal cancer.

feature

AT THE
HEART OF HPB

Recognising the power of a social movement in spreading best practice in
health, HPB’s Health Ambassador Network recruits and trains an army of
dedicated volunteers from the community

Health Ambassadors are specially-trained members

of the community who play a crucial role in cascading

health information to the people around them. The Health
Ambassador Network was officially launched at the National
Healthy Lifestyle Campaign on 22 October 2011 by Deputy
Prime Minister Teo Chee Hean, where HPB pledged to recruit
and train an army of 10,000 health ambassadors by the
year 2015. Ranging across all ages, these Ambassadors are
trained and equipped with knowledge on how to live healthy
lifestyles. They are also trained to then take these messages
to share with the people in their communities.

These volunteers are HPB’s arms, legs and mouthpieces,
working hand-in-hand with HPB staff, to push out messages
in the language and manner that appeals best to those
around them.

Seeded in August 2011, HPB's Health Promotion Academy
was set up to train our Health Ambassadors. HPB signed

a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with the National
University of Singapore’s Saw Swee Hock School of Public
Health (SSHSPH) to enhance the partnership in training,
curriculum development and research.

To celebrate the selfless contributions of Health
Ambassadors, the inaugural Health Ambassador Day was
held on 10 February 2012, which saw the graduation of

over 400 Health Ambassadors from the Health Ambassador
Training Programme. To lend to the effort of rallying
Singaporeans, Dr Amy Khor, Minister of State for Health, took
on the responsibility of being the Chief Health Ambassador.
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BUILDING A

HEALTH PROMOTING

ECOSYSTEM

HPB makes the healthy choice the easiest and most accessible choice

At the heart of health promotion is
changing an individual’s behaviour,
habits and lifestyle. This is especially
challenging in an environment that

is constantly evolving and where an
educated, affluent and technology-
savvy population have many choices
available to them. Working closely
with ‘3P’ partners in the Public,
Private and People sectors, HPB
sought to influence these choices by
transforming the local environment to
create health promoting opportunities
in places where Singaporeans live,
work and play. Comprising health
promoting malls, schools, MRT
stations, community clubs and hawker
centres, these opportunities are
conveniently situated across the island,
forming a larger ecosystem which
aims to influence lifestyle choices and
encourage the cultivation of healthier
habits among the population. For
example, Health Promoting Malls
provide opportunities for physical

Health Promotion Board
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Launch of Healthier Hawkers Programme at Yuhua Hawker Centre.

Launch of Health Promoting Community Club.

Mall Walk at Health Promoting Mall.

2

activities in an air-conditioned environment. HPB also brings health into the workplace by supporting organisations through
health talks, online health portals and exercise programmes.

All this serves to build infrastructures that empower Singaporeans to help themselves and to make the right choices. Through
this ecosystem, HPB is also more effectively positioned to customise programmes to better suit the changing needs and
aspirations of all Singaporeans.
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As the Board strives to do better each year, a record number of awards in the
year celebrates the effectiveness of HPB’s efforts

HPB was awarded Brand of the Year at the Singapore
Advertising Hall of Fame Awards 2011, which measures
the engagement and resonance a brand creates in the
marketplace. Corporate Marketing & Communications
Director Vernon Vasu was also named Marketer of the Year.

Kaki (Colorectal Cancer)
e Bronze, Viewers’ Choice Awards 2011

e Finalist, Best TV Campaign, Singapore Advertising Hall of
Fame Awards 2011

e  Finalist, Effie Awards 2012
I Quit (Smoking)

e Bronze, Most Effective Use of Advertising, Asian
Marketing Effectiveness Awards 2012

e Finalist, Effie Awards 2012

Ah Kong (Dementia)

e  Silver, Effie Awards 2011
Emobot (Youth Mental Wellness)
e  Silver, Effie Awards 2011

e  Finalist, Best Digital Campaign, Singapore Advertising
Hall of Fame Awards 2011

Live it Up without Lighting Up (Smoking)

e  Bronze, Effie Awards 2011

27

Organised yearly by the Singapore Human Resource Institute
(SHRI), the Singapore HR Awards honour and recognise
individuals and organisations that have made significant
contributions in enhancing people and human capital
management and development practices. We are pleased
to announce that HPB is the recipient of the Singapore HR
Awards 2011 in the following categories:

e |eading HR Leader Award to Ms Tan Seok Lee (Director,
Corporate Services)

e Leading HR Practices Award in Quality Work-life,
Physical and Mental Well-Being

e Leading HR Practices Award in Performance
Management

e |eading HR Practices (Special Mention) Award in HR
Communications and Branding

HPB’s CEO Mr Ang Hak Seng received the Leading CEO
Award

HPB’s Colorectal Cancer Campaign won the Best Integrated
Marketing Campaign award

e The Public Service Star - Ang Hak Seng
e Public Administration Medal - Chor Swee Suet (Bronze)
e [Efficiency Medal - Kang Lee Lin, Ng Bee Hoon

e Long Service Medal - Tan Seok Lee, Raymond Tan
Chong Hock, Lim Geok Hoon, Halimahton bte Abdul
Kadir

feature

Health Promotion Board’s Ground-Up, Community-Centric
and 3P Engagement to Inspire Healthy Living

KM Culture & Technology (Silver)

3rd tier Meritorious Defence Partner Award

Singapore was named the World’s Healthiest Country by
Bloomberg Rankings in August 2012 through an assessment
of health scores and health-risk scores for countries with
populations of at least 1 million.

23
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living is...

getting a good
head start

Promoting good health and development is critical early

in life. Adopting a healthy lifestyle during childhood and
adolescence provides the right start, preventing chronic
health problems in the future. This will reduce costs
associated with health problems, and allow our children
the best chance to maximise their potential. The Youth
Health Division (YHD) empowers and equips Singapore’s
youth and other key stakeholders with health information
and skills to stay healthy, through a broad range of policies,
programmes, and services delivered in engaging and
innovative ways.




youth health division

Nutrition

HEALTH PROMOTING SCHOOL
CANTEEN PROGRAMME

The Health Promoting School Canteen (HPSC)
Programme is an enhancement of the Healthy
Eating in Schools Programme 2010, in which
participating schools work with HPB to serve
healthy set meals.

These meals incorporate the appropriate
proportions of food from four main food groups
— rice and alternatives, meat and alternatives,
fruit and vegetables — ensuring that students
receive the right nutrients necessary for their
growing needs.

The programme was launched in Wellington
Primary School in July 2011 and will be rolled
out in 50 primary and secondary schools by the
end of 2012.

A nutritionist conducting a nutrition
workshop for canteen stall vendors.
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HEALTHY CANTEEN PROGRAMME

The Healthy Canteen Programme (HCP) equips
food-stall holders in tertiary institutions with basic
knowledge of healthy nutrition, enhancing their
culinary skills to prepare healthier meals for both
students and staff.

Canteens in the three Institutes of Technical
Education (ITEs) have participated in the HCP, and
have undergone the culinary training workshop.

Plans are under way to introduce this programme to
other institutes of higher learning.

Mental Wellness

“BOUNCE BACK STRONGER!”
YOUTH RESILIENCE CAMPAIGN

The Youth Resilience Campaign was launched
on 20 February 2012 to inspire and ignite
Singapore’s youth with resilience skills to
manage challenges.To make mental health
relevant and accessible to youths, the “Bounce
Back Stronger!” Youth Online Kit was launched.
This one-stop youth-centric platform consists of
a checklist and a wealth of resources for youths
to assess themselves and discover opportunities
to improve their resilience.

An inspiring video has also been created,
featuring true stories of Singaporean youths
who have overcome adversities and emerged
stronger. Since then, “Stories of Resilience” has
received 166,000 views online.

Several youth-led mental health projects were
also featured at the launch.

home.

Mental health programme trains youth to help friends

I By DARYL CHIN

‘WHEN young people are feeling the blues,
chances are they will first turn to their
friends.

That is why having a strong peer sup-
port network in place can help tackle prob-
lems early on.

A new initiative - the Youth Support
Youth programme - unveiled yesterday by
the Health Promotion Board at ITE College
‘West aims to do just that.

The three-day workshop will teach par-
ticipants - aged 17 to 25 - how to help
friends who are suffering from emotional
problems, spot the warning signs and en-
courage them to seek treatment early.

The programme was developed by HPB,
the Institute of Mental Health (IMH), non-
profit organisation Silver Ribbon and Sa-
maritans of Singapore.

It is the first local mental health peer
support programme endorsed by the
World Federation for Mental Health.

Already, about 90 students from Te-
masek and Republic polytechnics and Nan-
yang Technological University have gone
through this training. The target is to train
more than 250 by next year.

Dr Swapna Verma, project director of
the Community Health Assistant Team,
IMH’s youth-oriented offshoot, said such
a programme is a good way to reach out to
young people grappling with mental and
emotional problems.

Young people generally do not like to

Young people taking part in an exercise at the launch of HPB's online portal yesterday. The site gives
tips to help young people cope with stress in a fast-paced world. ST PHOTO: MUGILAN RAJASEGERAN

confide in counsellors, she noted. They are
also reluctant to have themselves regis-
tered with institutions offering help be-
cause of the perceived negative connota-
tion associated with such bodies.

“Instead, they turn to their friends,”
said Dr Verma. “So one way of doing
things is to then empower the youths and
train them to help each other.”

Such a programme can also help with
early detection. The latest Singapore Men-
tal Health Study found that 12 per cent of
6,600 respondents, surveyed in 2010, will
have some kind of mental disorder in their
lifetime. For most, mental illness will hit
by the time they are 29.

“So it's really important to target this
group,” she noted.

Besides this, HPB also launched a new
online portal yesterday offering tips to
help young people cope with stress in a
fast-paced world.

Mr Jonathan Ng, 19, is one of those who
shared his experience over the online por-
tal. He has witnessed his mother undergo-
ing depression and succumbing to cancer,
and the death of his best friend. He also suf-
fered acute kidney failure and had bad
grades after falling in with bad company.

He said: “In the end, my friends and my
family played a large part in helping me
through this.”

A youth volunteer showing MOS Amy Khor and Mr Ang around the booth for Audible
Hearts, an anonymous online peer-support network for youths by youths.
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youth health division

Leveraging the significant role youths’
friends play in their lives, the Youth Mental
Health Ambassador (YMHA) and Youth
Support Youth (YSY) Programmes empower
passionate youths in mental health advocacy
and peer support.

YMHASs develop and implement their own
outreach projects to promote mental well-
being to their peers. The YSY Programme,
which equips youths with peer support
skills for early detection, is endorsed by the
World Federation for Mental Health, and is
a collaboration between HPB, the Institute
of Mental Health’s (IMH) Community Health
Assessment Team, Silver Ribbon Singapore
and the Samaritans of Singapore (SOS).

To date, a total of 266 youth ambassadors
have been trained across tertiary institutions
and in the community.

e

In promoting mental wellness to youths, HPB
reaches out to stakeholders such as parents,
teachers, counsellors and youth workers.

Some recent key initiatives include
collaborations with Starhub to promote
cyberwellness to parents, a partnership
with the Ministry of Education (MOE) for
the Annual Full-Time School Counsellors
Awareness Briefing, the “Got To Go”
cyberwellness package for youth workers
and HPB’s 1st Mental Health Symposium
for Special Education Teachers and Allied
Health Professionals.

Substance Abuse

To promote responsible drinking and
highlight binge drinking limits among youth
aged 18 to 25 years, HPB implemented a
creative alcohol education campaign called
“Last Man Standing” from December 2011 to
January 2012.

A giant breathalyser machine, which
measures blood alcohol concentration, was
created and it roved to popular night spots
such as Zouk and Zirca over six weekends,
reaching more than 2,000 youths. Of 400
people surveyed, 74% have opined that not
drinking excessively has its benefits, and
47% have indicated that they will drink less
the next time they are out.
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Unlike the first two seasons, NSSL 3 has

focused on the power of choice. Encouraging
HPB continues to work with youth-centric organisations to infuse and reinforce the “Live It Up Without Lighting Up” message, to engagement and interactivity, viewers made

encourage youths to commit to a smoke-free lifestyle. decisions for the characters in this short
film. Each decision would alter the way the

In 2011, the organisation collaborated with partners such as Youth Empire, Cathay Ad-House, the Young Women’s story ended

Leadership Connection (YWLC) and Teens magazine to organise various events targeting youth, including a dance contest

and a talent competition. The interactive film was directed by Boo
Junfeng, an award-winning, young local
talent, and it has been screened at five tertiary
institutions, reaching out to 1,200 students.

An estimated 10,000 youths have been reached through these initiatives and social media platforms such as Facebook and
online blogs.

In March 2012, HPB, supported by the
Ministry of Community Development, Youth
and Sports (MCYS), organised two parent
seminars in English and Mandarin.

At the seminars, parents learnt practical
skills to communicate with their children
about sexuality issues. The sessions were
conducted by experts in the areas of youth
work, social work and counselling.

STls AND HIV Education

The seminars, which reached more than
300 parents, were well received. More than
90% of the participants agreed that useful
information and practical tips were provided.

Riding on the success of previous campaigns of the same
name, Not So Secret Lives of Us (NSSL) 3 has taken on the The participants also felt more confident

form of an interactive film. about initiating a conversation regarding

Like its predecessors, the NSSL movie has raised awareness sexuality issues with their child.

of sexually transmitted infections (STls) and the human
immunodeficiency virus (HIV) among youth, by highlighting the
consequences of high-risk behaviour.
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PARENT-CHILD WORKSHOP IN
MALAY

In March 2012, HPB organised its first
parent-child workshop in Malay, which
was supported by Clubilya, a Malay
Muslim organisation.

The workshop raised parents’ awareness
of the need to talk to their children about
sexuality, equipped both parents and youth
with the knowledge and skills to broach the
topic, and created a safe environment for
them to discuss sexuality issues.

A mother and son completing a worksheet together.

STUDENT HEALTH ADVISOR PROGRAMME

The Student Health Advisor (SHA) Programme, which was
piloted in eight secondary schools in 2010, has been rolled out
in four more secondary schools as well as ITE College East.

Trained and qualified nurses are based in these schools to
provide health counselling and advice for students, and to
facilitate the timely detection, referral and management of
their health conditions.

An SHA conducting a talk for student health ambassadors.
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YOUTH HEALTH PROGRAMME OUTREACH

Educational Institution Outreach

The Educational Institution Outreach Department (EIOD) works closely with schools to promote health through a variety of
effective outreach strategies.

EIOD’s efforts include the introduction of healthy set meals, the training of student leaders to be health advocates and the
development and implementation of a health-promoting framework in institutes of higher learning.

SECONDARY SCHOOL HEALTH AMBASSADOR PROGRAMME

The Secondary School Health Ambassador Programme equips students with the knowledge and skills to undertake effective
peer-led health promotion in their schools and community.

Through the programme, students learn about their roles as health ambassadors, pertinent youth health issues and important
life skills, such as event management, teamwork and creativity.

PEER-LED PROJECTS BY ITE STUDENTS

The ITE College East Student Council, Youth Advolution for Health (YAH) and the Community Care & Social Service Department of
ITE College East jointly organised a World Mental Health Day event on 10 October 2011, reaching out to more than 1,000 students.

The project was conceptualised and implemented by students who completed HPB’s YMHA Programme. Various Voluntary
Welfare Organisations (VWOs) were also invited to showcase their mental health promotion services, and provide students with
information and advice about stress management.

ITE College East students celebrating World Mental Health Day on 10 October 2011.
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HEALTHY CAMPUS FRAMEWORK
The Healthy Campus Framework has been implemented in Singapore’s ITEs, polytechnics and universities.

The working framework is based on WHO's recommendations for adopting a settings approach to health promotion, and
includes key elements that define a health-promoting campus.

Youth Community And Parent Outreach

Plugging into the wider ecosystem where youth and parents live, work and play allows the Youth Community and Parent
Qutreach Department (YCPOD) to stay relevant in terms of their needs and evolving trends.

The department also seeks to make health promotion more pervasive and deep-rooted by empowering and supporting the
ground-up efforts of key stakeholders, as well as leveraging peer advocacy.

YOUTH ADVOLUTION FOR HEALTH

YAH, Singapore’s first youth-led health advocacy group, celebrated its sixth anniversary in February and March 2012 by
organising a “Health-Tee Me!” campaign at six institutions.

The campaign saw the collection of 800 pledges by youths to embrace a healthier lifestyle. YAH formed its fourth Health
Alliance with the NTU Students’ Union in February 2012, signifying both parties’ commitment towards promoting youth health
on campus.

A youth pledging to stay healthy during the “Health-Tee Me!” campaign. Signing of a Health Alliance between YAH and the NTU Students’ Union.
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PARENT OUTREACH

A series of healthier-lifestyle interactive
workshops have thus been organised to
equip parents with the right knowledge and
tips to guide their children who are aged
three to six years. The workshops cover
health topics such as nutrition, physical
activity and mental wellness.

A total of 28 workshops have been
conducted at libraries, community centres,
outreach events, preschools and workplaces,
reaching 555 parents in total.

Parents making a healthy sandwich at an interactive workshop for parents of children aged

three to six years.

From left: Mr Kang Puay Seng, Managing Director of Mr Bean; Mr Ang
Hak Seng, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of HPB; Mr Sam Tan, Chairman
of the CDAC Family Workfare & Support Committee; and Mr Baey Yam
Keng, Chairman of the CDAC Volunteers Engagement & Development
Committee, at the launch of the recipe books.

EMPOWERING COMMUNITY
PARTNERS TO SUPPORT
GROUND-UP EFFORTS

In 2011, deeper engagements were

forged between YCPOD and community
partners, such as the Chinese Development
Assistance Council (CDAC) and the Malay
Youth Literary Association (4PM).

A nine-hour cyberwellness programme
targeting CDAC parents was developed
during the year, reaching out to 70 CDAC
parents. YCPOD aims to reach out to at least
200 CDAC parents by the end of 2012.

CDAC and HPB have also co-developed
two editions of the recipe book, “It’s Dinner
Time!”, which features healthy and affordable
dishes to encourage families to make
healthier food choices. These books have
been presented to 11,000 CDAC low-
income families. In addition, a total of 24
CDAC Youth Befrienders have been trained

Health Promotion Board
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to mentor 160 children aged 10 to 12 years
about engaging in healthy eating and an
active lifestyle.

Between June and August 2011, HPB also
collaborated with 4PM on its Ramadhan on
Wheels (ROW) project, reaching out to over
260 families and 1,200 youth volunteers.
HPB and 4PM co-developed a nutrition
education programme as well, educating
parents about good nutrition, how to buy
healthier choice ingredients and how to cook
healthier meals.

Over 70% of the participants attending the
programme agreed that traditional Malay
dishes can be prepared healthily.

Preventive Health Services

The Clinical Quality and Safety Framework is a comprehensive tool to monitor the service standards and performance of the
various departments in Preventive Health Services (PHS).

It includes the setting of standards, staff training, supervisory checks and reviews, risk management, auditing, customer
feedback and the monitoring of service providers.

The framework was approved for implementation by the Medical and Dental Board in 2011.

The Quality Assurance Committee (QAC) was formalised in April 2011 to provide a consistent system for reviewing all clinical
incidents, serious reportable events, mortality and morbidity, in line with guidelines from the Ministry of Health (MOH).

QAC ensures good governance, and that corrective action for continual improvement are implemented as required.

HPB plays an important role in national emergency preparedness.

In 2011, MOH added two new responsibilities to the role of nurses in preparing for national emergencies. Two doctors and 24
registered nurses received training about the issuing of Anti-viral Prophylaxis by registered nurses during an emergency.

Seven registered nurses were also prepared to become trainers and supervisors for mass small pox vaccination.

3/
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Student Health Centre

The Student Health Centre (SHC) serves as
a convenient and affordable referral centre
for students who have been identified with
possible growth and development or other
health problems during the annual health
screening in schools.

In 2011, 62,183 students visited SHC, and
the attendance at the various clinics is shown
in the table below.

General clinics 40,792
Immunisation clinic 10,228
Refraction clinic 11,524

Nutrition clinic 2

Specialist clinic 1,262

Audiometry clinic 702

Attendance at SHC clinics (2011).

VISION SCREENING

HPB'’s study on myopia — conducted in
schools over six years — has shown a
reduction of almost 5% in the prevalence of
myopia among primary school students.

In 2004, 38% of the students were myopic,
but only 33% had the same condition in
2009, which means that there are currently
about 12,500 fewer students with myopia in
Singapore’s primary schools.
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The new wall murals enhance the vibrancy of SHC.

ST PHOTO: NEO XIAOBIN

Public relations director Casuarina Peck decided to make her children's eye care a priority when her daughter Rachel,
12, started wearing glasses two years ago. Her son Joshua Rajendran, nine, has managed to keep his vision perfect.

Fewer short-sighted kids here

Jalelah Abu Baker

mary schools took part in vision

For the first time since myopia was
flagged as a problem among chil-
dren in Singapore, fewer kids are
becoming short-sighted.

A six-year study by the Health
Promotion Board (HPB) showed
there has been a 5 per cent drop in
the number of children who have
had to turn to spectacles.

The dip in numbers, believed
to be the first in the world, is the
likely result of a comprehensive
10-year National Myopia Preven-
tion Programme that promotes ear-
ly intervention and good eye-care
habits in schools, said the board.

About 20,000 pupils between
seven and 12 years old from 12 pri-

C in HPB’s survey. It
found that while 38 pupils out of
every 100 had myopia in 2004,
the number dropped to 33 in
2009. Singapore has one of the
world’s highest rates of myopia.
About 65 per cent of children aged
12 here are short-sighted.

Health Minister Gan Kim Yong
said that while the figures from
the study attested to the good ef-
forts made, individuals should
play their part.

“I’know how difficult it will be
to tear you away from your compu-
ter screens and your iPhones, even
for a second. But I encourage you
to try to get outdoors every now
and then,” he said at the launch of
the National Eye Care Week at Pan

Pacific Singapore yesterday.

Since 2001, the HPB has tried
to improve the myopia situation
here by mainly targeting children.

Through its annual screening,
started in the 1980s, HPB reaches
half a million children yearly, and
about 80,000 are referred to its re-
fraction clinic for further assess-
ment. It started screening kinder-
garten children in 2002.

The board encourages schools
to get pupils to spend time out-
doors and to take a break from
looking at the computer or read-
ing, whenever possible. Pupils are
also educated through pamphlets
and exhibitions.

Continued on >>Page 10

CHOOSERIGHT@NORTHLIGHT
SCHOOL

SHC partnered Northlight School (NLS)
in 2011 to pilot a nutrition education
programme for students in their third year.

A total of 177 students attended eight
weekly sessions that were conducted by
specially trained teachers. The highlights
of the programme included a health fair,
a sandwich-making competition and an
assembly talk.

There has been an overall increase in
physical activity and the intake of fruit
and vegetables, as well as a decrease in
the consumption of deep-fried foods and
sweetened drinks.

NLS students having fun while learning how to prepare healthy sandwiches.

REFRESH

In 2011, SHC developed and implemented ReFRESH, a new
school-based nutrition education programme for severely
overweight students [body mass index (BMI)-for-age > 97th
percentile], in eight secondary schools.

A total of 298 students participated in the programme, which
comprises three bi-monthly nutrition education sessions
conducted by trained SHAs.

Students in ReFRESH planning a balanced diet for a day.
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School Health Service

NATIONAL CHILDHOOD
IMMUNISATION PROGRAMME

The National Childhood Immunisation
Programme (NCIP) was introduced to
prevent and control common childhood
vaccine-preventable diseases.

With high immunisation coverage, the School
Health Service (SHS) has contributed to the
elimination and prevention of diseases such
as diphtheria and poliomyelitis. Diseases

like measles have also been brought under
control.SHS provides booster immunisation
against diphtheria, tetanus, poliomyelitis,
measles, mumps and rubella for school-
going children, through its school-based
immunisation programme. The immunisation
coverage for Primary 1 and Primary 5
students over the past four years is shown in
the table below.

Immunisation being administered for children in schools by SHS nurses.

Type of Immunisation 2008 2009 2010 2011*
MMR  (Primary 1) 93.2 94.8 96.4 93.8

MMR (Primary 5 and 6) 95.5 96.5 97.2 96.1
Oral Sabin Booster 2 (Primary 1) 92.4 94.3 96.3 95.0
Oral Sabin Booster 3 (Primary 5) 96.6 97.4 98.0 97.6
DT and Tdap Booster 2 (Primary 5) 95.8

Immunisation coverage (%) for school-going children.

*Preliminary report
(MMR was brought down from Primary 5 to Primary 1 from 2008 onwards)
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Polyclinics and General Practitioners (GPs) also provide immunisation for infants and preschool children. The immunisation
coverage for two-year-olds over the past five years is shown in the table below.

Type of immunisation 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011~
BCG 99 99 99 99 99

Diphtheria 97 97 97 96 95

Poliomyelitis 97 97 97 96 95
Hepatitis B 96 97 96 96 95

Measles 95 95 95 95 94

Immunisation coverage (%) for two-year-olds.

*Preliminary report

HEALTH SCREENING FOR
STUDENTS

SHS’s team of doctors and nurses conduct
an annual health screening for students in
every school.

In 2011, health screening was conducted
for 429,500 students in 375 schools. These
schools consisted of 179 normal primary
schools, 171 secondary schools, 18
Madrasahs or religious schools, six special
schools and one private school.

The health screening coverage for the past
five years is shown in the table below.

Doctors and nurses conducting health screening at schools.

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Total number screened (primary and secondary school
students) 458,700 451,900 448,000 435,900 429,500

Health screening coverage.
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SCHOOL DENTAL
SERVICE

SCHOOL ORAL HEALTH
PROGRAMME

In 2011, the School Dental Service (SDS)
provided routine screening for 240,954
students in Primary 1, 2, 4, and 6, as well as
Secondary 1 and 3.

A total of 229,776 of the students were
rendered dentally fit. In addition, 33,829
students from the other levels with a

high caries risk have been reviewed and
given treatment. The students are from
government, government-aided, Madrasah
and special schools.

Compared to 2010, the oral health of the
12- and 15-year-olds has improved. The
decayed, missing and filled teeth (DMFT)
index has also declined from 0.60 to 0.56 for
the 12-year-olds, and from 1.10 to 1.05 for
the 15-year-olds.

Parliamentary Secretary, Ministry of Health & Ministry of Transport, Associate Professor
Muhammad Faishal Ibrahim on a visit to the School Dental Centre.

SDS has continued to receive positive feedback regarding its service and staff from school principals, parents and patients. In
fact, the field dental clinics and SDS have received a customer satisfaction score of 97.5% and 96% respectively.

In total, SDS received 1,329 compliments throughout the year.

PRESCHOOL PROGRAMME

SDS moved further upstream in 2011, piloting a screening programme at three childcare centres to detect caries at a younger age.

Among the 61 three-year-olds examined, 23% have been found to have caries. The parents have been provided with
information about their child’s oral health status, how to encourage and supervise their child to practise good habits at home,
and the availability of follow-up dental treatment at HPB.

The parents have also been given a diary to monitor their child’s daily tooth-brushing habits.
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COMMUNITY DENTAL
PROGRAMME

To support HPB'’s ground-up approach in
health promotion, SDS expanded its reach
in 2011 by participating in nine community
projects to provide accessible and
affordable dental screening and treatment
for the needy elderly.

Two of the events were in collaboration with
HPB'’s Healthy Aging Division (HAD). Besides
deploying mobile dental clinics, SDS also
operates the school dental clinics during the
school holidays. This has allowed a total of
417 needy elderly individuals to be screened
and treated.

The patients have also been advised to visit
the dental clinics under the Community Health
Assist Scheme for their follow-up treatment.

Using fun stickers to promote good oral hygiene.
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living is...

a breath of
fresh air

Enjoying a breath of fresh air is only possible with smoke-
free living. From promoting tobacco-free initiatives to
encouraging Singaporeans to eat healthy and get active, the
Adult Health Division (AHD) is at the heart of it all. As the
main driver of adult health promotion, the division covers
many facets of our lives, such as physical activity, nutrition,
mental health, substance abuse and workplace health.




adult health division

Workplace Health

10™ NATIONAL CONFERENCE
ON WORKPLACE HEALTH
PROMOTION

The 10th National Conference on Workplace
Health Promotion, themed “Optimising
Employees’ Health: New Perspectives for the
Singapore Workforce”, was held from 10 to
11 November 2011.

At the conference, more than 300
participants, experts and practitioners

from various disciplines shared strategies

to optimise the health of employees. The
keynote speaker, Prof Dame Carol Black, the
National Director for Health and Work in the
United Kingdom (UK), highlighted the impact
of organisational culture and management
quality on employees’ health.

Guest of honour Dr Amy Khor, the Minister of State (MOS) for Health, announced that companies may apply for Workplace
Health Promotion (WHP) grants of up to $15,000 from April 2012 — an increase from the current $12,000 — to improve the health
of their employees. These companies can use the increased funding to implement comprehensive mental health programmes
and targeted intervention programmes for at-risk employees, such as those with obesity or chronic diseases.

In addition, $200,000 will be set aside under the WHP Capability Development Grant from July 2012 onwards, to encourage
service providers and consultants to develop creative workplace health programmes for companies.During the conference, HPB
and the Enterprise Development Centre@Association of Small and Medium Enterprises (EDC@ASME) also signed a Memorandum
of Understanding (MOU) to promote workplace health among SMEs, which employ 60% of Singapore’s workforce.

EDC@ASME will be reaching out to companies to raise awareness of workplace health, and provide them with consultation for
the designing of suitable workplace health programmes.
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Mental Health Education
POSITIVE WELLBEING BUS

To facilitate the early detection of depressive
symptoms among the elderly, a Positive
Wellbeing bus went to seven community
locations island-wide between July and
September 2011.

The initiative, which involves partners from
the public, private and people sectors, has
screened 2,900 seniors for depression. It

is the first of its kind to provide a one-stop
solution for depression screening, where

on-site counselling and consultation with a
psychiatrist are provided for seniors at risk.

The Positive Wellbeing initiative is now
integrated with HPB’s Community

Functional Screening Programme for seniors.

MENTAL HEALTH INITIATIVES FOR SENIORS

Nurture Your Mind (NYM), HPB’s key psychosocial
programme for seniors, was organised at 20 constituencies in
2011, benefiting over 2,000 seniors.

A total of 5,000 people also joined Minister Gan Kim

Yong and Mayor Maliki Osman for the Walk for Dementia
2011 at the East Coast Park on 9 October 2011. The
participants learnt about the warning signs of dementia during
the 2km walk, through fun and experiential activities.

Minister Gan launched HPB’s Mental First Aid Kit Programme
as well — a comprehensive initiative comprising NYM and
Stimulate Your Mind (SYM), a series of workshops about
cognitive stimulation. The programme is conducted using
different modalities, including art, music, drama and games,
providing psychosocial education and cognitive-skill training in
areas such as memory, reasoning and processing speed.

The Mental First Aid Kit Programme has been piloted with two
groups of seniors in Marine Parade, and will be available at all
senior activity and wellness centres.

Health Promotion Board
Annual Report
2011/2012



adult health division

Life Lessons in Resilience, a forum about
mental well-being, was attended by more
than 500 people on 19 February 2012.

Local celebrities Chew Chor Meng and
Bryan Wong shared their personal stories

of resilience at the forum, and the audience
was also inspired by how other speakers
—including a caregiver and a young doctor —
triumphed over the adversities in their lives.

Nutrition

The year 2011 saw strategic partnerships forged with business and trade
associations to reach workplaces — particularly SMEs. In November 2011,
HPB collaborated with the Singapore Business Federation (SBF) and ASME
to launch a counselling hotline for employees. This helpline has since received
over 200 calls — including 117 from SMEs — regarding work-related stress,
concerns about depressive symptoms and relationship issues.

Through an MOU with ASME in July 2011, over 1,100 SMEs have benefited
from individualised consultations about mental health initiatives at the
workplace. A total of 648 companies have also been able to conduct mental
health initiatives through HPB’s workplace mental health top-up grant, and
more than 200 SMEs have successfully tapped this resource.

The uptake for this initiative is more than twice of 2010’s.

Since the launch of the Healthier Hawkers Programme at
Yuhua Hawker Centre in April 2011, HPB has rolled out the
programme at three more hawker centres in the east.
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Half the stalls at these hawker centres have
participated in the programme. These stalls
have reported having brisk business, due
to a significant increase in the demand for
healthier food options.

The increased demand is reflected by the
larger volume of ingredients ordered from

suppliers as well. In addition, the healthier
choices are identified on the menu boards
at the hawker centres to help consumers

make informed food choices.

Through the public, private and people (3P)
partnership, HPB will continue working
with grassroots organisations, hawker
associations and the food industry to
introduce these healthier ingredients to 20
hawker centres by the end of FY2012.

prime.news
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Chicken rice,
no skin? Yes, at
this ‘healthier’
coffee shop

HPB to open 19 more
such eateries offering less
fatty food by year end

1 By Stacey Ciny

Promotion Board (HPB)
apened the frst heahier cofee shop yes-
re dining out
and obesity rates are 1ing.
Food King Coffee House in Bukit Batok
East Avenue S haseigt stalls tha all serve

dishes made with ingredients such as
Eromn e whoeghai soedlesand ot -
tening oil.

For instance, a standard order of chick-
en rice will come without skin and with
brown ice mixed in. This means it has 00
calories, compared with about 600
regala lae o chicken ie
es that have been modified will have

their calorie count displayed on the mena
boands. This i prt of the HPW's Healther
Coffee Shop Initiative

s chiel execative Ang Hak Seng ssid
there wil e at leas anfher 19 such coffee
shops by the end of the yeas

e said many of the tal owners at the

pliers who agteed to sell bulk- orderca
healthier ingredients at the same price as
regular ones, T 5o advised cooks on how
to reduce the fat and salt in their dishes

selling less healthy food, therefore those

that sell helthy food will it Singapore-
estyle

S iy e s oo, 201
Madam_Halimah Yacob, Minister of
State for Community Develdpment, Youth
and Sperts said the number of Singapore-

ans dining out was a concer

"We may be too,busy to cook and buy
food regularly for ourselves and families
from neighbourhood coffee shops, which
traditionally sell less healthy fare,” said the
P for Jurong GRC, who was guest of hon-

have tirme to cook benefit from healthy and
mttious meal.

e Lee, 30, wiho owns Kela Cic-
en Rice at the coftce shop, said he had his
reservations at first. For examme brown
rice takes longer to cook. “But the younger
customers said that they prefer it when

he said. Since
then, he has noticed an increase in younger
customers.

American food joint Botak Jones
has jumped onboard. This particular outlet
at Food King Coffee House has two dishes

lad with

grilled salmon - that are below 500 calo-
ries.

PB will be working with Botak Jones to

i~ push out a healthy menu at 12 of s other

ateris, “Not everyone willthink that all

< the food we sell is healthy. Fating healthy

is also bout using natural meredients,”

said the chain's founder Bernie Utchenik.
Customers at the coffee shop welcomed

the change. “It's not as oily as some of the

checks done so that the cooks don't revert
to their old ways of cooking.”
staceyc@sph.com.sg

home.
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Trans-fat limit for cooking oils

T il or » wisdom of the move to legislate a limit on
r"“ i ,l‘"l or hﬁ[h n)r trans-fats, but sales officer Sam Lim, 41,
selli: 1 redients 3 has his doubts.
Se ”Ing Ingre (h( nts dnd He said: “Although it’ll be better for
0 1 20 limi health, I'm «.onceme\l it will affect the
food flouting 2g limit health, ['m cor

e pointed out that some food-sellers,
in a bid to spice up their dishes to com-
pensate for a loss of taste in the future,
nvz mes 2 week, housewite Doreen  may switch to adding other ingredients

6, puts bread, pastries and curry  that are just as unhealthy.

1 By PooN CHian Hut

pum o e oy Dkt bl ¢ manufacturers, suppliers and
It has occurred to her that these foods  retailers, there is generally less resist-
y be unhealthy for her husband and Some, being ahead of the curve,
two children, erweight. have already taken steps to comply ant

But she sayer “What can 1 do? 1 don't  have found Hitte diffcuty doing s0.
know what the shops use to make their ‘General manager of bakery Lh.un Four
. Leaves Steven Ong, for example, said the
‘When new trans-fat limits kick in this ~ chain switched to a healthier margarine
May, consumers lke her can rest asoured at no extra costlast year, and has not re-

levels.

that ‘what they cat will have less of this ceived any customer complaints At o s S e i o e
1 of trans-

harmul fat. [See graphic. “If the taste, baking process and prices

It is raw ingredients of these food remain the same, why not?” he said. use healthy ol that contins no more than

items - margarine, shortening and cook-

ing oil ~ that the laws are targeted at cooking oil, margarine and shortening,

he ingredients that are who declined to be named, said partially

used in the locally made pastries and cur-  hydrogenated soya bean oil is high in

will not be al-  trans-fat, and that a substitute like palm

lowed to_contain more than 2g of oil can readily be used without compro-
transfatfo evry 100g of thet weght,  mising on qalty.

‘manager of 2 major manufacturer of

rom May next year,

food outlets must
ST PHOTO: DESHOND WEE
leads to a

What is trans-fat?

TRANS-FAT comes about when
vegetable oils undergo the chemical
process of hydrogenation to make them
remain solid at room 1
easier to handle.

This kind of fat is bad for the body
because of its double-whammy on

m temperature an

amount of “bad” cholesterol in the blood
‘while decreasing “good” cholesterol

Partially hydrogenated soya bean oil
s the main source of such fats.
Margarine,shortening and cooking oi
account for up to 70
ameeTa Sinaporeats eston average,
udies have shown that consuming
an additional 4g of trans-fat every day

er cent increase in the risk

of coronary heart disease.

fealth Organisation has

Trans fat (g)
o || it o e
M aFrer health benefits and poses clear risks to

Other than trans-fat, saturated fats

is was announced by Minister of Fast-food chain McDonald's said it — PASTRIES AND PIES
Statefor et Amy Khor i the Budget s been o veetable i that contains I i
debate on Wednesday. less than 0.5 per cent of trans-fat ( 2 2

Imported processed or packaged foods _ Mr Wong Mong Hong, who heads the

that may have trans-fats and oils, such as ~ Singapore Food Manufacturers' Associa- o2
biscuits and potato chips, do not fall un-  tion, said the new rules are not that big a B
new regulations. This is be-  shock because other places have already x ]

cause many of these imports are also sold  taken the lead.
to countries in which trans-fats limits are _ These include the United States and
already in force, and where trans-at la-  European nations like Denmark; closer to
belling is compulsory. home, Taiwan, Hong Kong and South Ko-
To allow time for importers and retail-  rea already have trans-fat legislations
ers here to run down their stocks of raw e Agri-Food & Veterinary Authority

ingrdients high i ans-(at, import ndof Singapore (AVA), whic s mplement-  Gne slceof One slice of black
sale of such products will barred only  ing the regulations with the FIPB, said su- | pound cake est cake
from May next year Deimirkets will be encouraged o sounce 15 1
After that, those who flout the rules  for and replace fats and oilsto all inwith | p ¢ 3 102 F]
may be fined up to $5,000; subsequent of - the new rules. - -
fenders may be fined up to $10,000,  Supermarket chain NTUC FairPrice,
jailed up to three months, or both. which has more than 200 housebrand ofls ¢ 1 ’
How serious i the problem of over- and margaines that alrady comply with ! >
consumption of trans-fat> the new legislation, has been working on
"The Hedlth Promotion Board (HPB) lowering s trans-fat-laced. products

has found that three in 10 individuals ~ Since 2009, said its director of purchas-
ere eat more than the 2¢ daily limit rec-  ing and merchandising Mui-Kok Kah

ommended by the World Health Organisa-  Wel. Cold storage and prime said they will

suas the year that stickers with - work with suppliesto fnd out wha they  th
- age ona

tion. That
And two-thirds of them are aged 18 to  the “Healthier Choice” symbol et do, hchuding changing the by
39, the age group that tends to eat out  pyramid - began o come With  om such fosd tems.
“Tuang-fat re” taines o wel B said food operators had e

more and snack more, said the HPB. Th
esmen for supermarkets such as  pressed itial concern hat the new rules

onsumers like Madam Tay see the

would raise their operating costs, but

at manufacturers had managed to lever-
new processing method to make

low trans-fat ois.

Al

hough there are costs incurred,
these are one-off and not substantial,”

also raise one’s risk of heart dise:
i They are me

ase.

ostly found in animal fats,
such as cheese and butter.

said Dr Grace Soon, chief nutritionist at
HPE's Centre of Bacelencefor Nutrton.
aid the costs would largely be ab-

/ soxbedaunemam\fauums1 el.

enzene Interna-

ol whih imports oils and fats fror
countres like Malaysia and Indonesia 1o

y's managing director

Narayanan Ellango said he may have to or-

14 der tests for cach batch of of products he

imports
los e 1

he tests are not, troublesome but
they will cost m

wha, esimated that each round of testing
may cost the company up to $1,000.
awker Paul Liew, who cooks up sea-
Source HEALTH PROMOTIONBOARD {00 dishes at his stall in Alexandra Vi-

=5

STGRAPHIS,

turn black ai

ige, is not sure ye
is 'top concern
healthier ails he wil have to
V1 the qualiy s not eood, the ol will

yet i his costs will go up.
is the qnzh(y of the

r two or three fryings. We

Wl have to change the ol mors ofen.”

chpoon@sph.com.sg
Additional reporting by Jessica Lim

Stikers on tbls at Food in Coffes Hous ais th publcon catng m;s, The coffee shop in Bukit Batok serves dishes made with
healthier brown ice, ST PHOTO: DESHOND FOO

The trans-fat legislation, which came into
effect in May 2012, limits the trans-fat
content of fats and oils to no more than

2g per 100g of product, and requires the
mandatory labelling of trans-fat content on
the packaging of fat and oil products in the
retail market.

According to the National Nutrition Survey

in 2004 and 2010, three in 10 adult
Singaporeans exceed the daily limit of trans-
fat consumption recommended by the World
Health Organization (WHO). The Centre of
Excellence (Nutrition) actively engages local
food manufacturers to reduce trans-fat in
their products, and has been promoting trans
fat labelling since 2004.
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FINEST FOOD PROGRAMME

The FINEST (Functional, Innovative, Nutritious, Effective,
Science-based, and Tasty) Food Programme is a step forward
in industry partnerships.

The inter-agency collaboration with SPRING Singapore, the
Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A*STAR),
the Singapore Food Manufacturers’ Association (SFMA) and
five local polytechnics harnesses food science capabilities to
provide one-stop centres for food companies to consult with
and procure services for product development.

Innovative products such as reduced-sodium table salt and
fishballs, and wholegrain versions of Asian favourites like
steamed buns and cakes (pau and tim sum), are some new
entrants to the local market.

In three years, 30 of such functional foods are slated to
be launched.
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= New Market
You can stub it out

Smokers will get a lot of help to kick the habit, but they must take the first critical step

BYLIMYANNLING an apply for HPE's Workplace Health

F. Promation Grant at www.hpb gov.5g/
THE Health Promation Board (HPB) — E heathatwork.

“The 12-week programme comprises.
s

organiser ofthe 15th Warld Conference
on Tobacco or Health (WCTOH), o be

& phone a
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Substance Abuse
| QUIT

As part of the National Smoking Control Campaign (NSCC),
I Quit is a community-based, holistic support network that
helps smokers to quit smoking.

Using a 3P approach, HPB provides more than 150
touchpoints, making it easier and more convenient for
smokers to quit. Recognising the difficulties smokers face
in their quitting journey, a supportive online community
has also been formed through the | Quit Club Facebook
page, where smokers can pledge to quit and find the
encouragement they need.

The page has garnered more than 22,000 “likes” since it was
launched in May 2011. In addition, 1,800 callers called QuitLine
between June 2011 and March 2012, which is a three-fold
increase from the same period before the campaign.

BLUE RIBBON SMOKE-FREE MOVEMENT

The Blue Ribbon Smoke-Free Movement is part of the larger smoke-free
movement that the WHO Western Pacific Region has embarked on.

Launched in March 2012, Singapore is the first country regionally to adopt the
initiative on a nationwide scale.

The Blue Ribbon Smoke-Free Movement recognises communities
and businesses that commit to creating and promoting a smoke-free
environment.

Since March 2012, more than 10 hawker centres across the island have been
awarded the Blue Ribbon. These hawker centres have voluntarily removed
their demarcated smoking zones because they believe in the importance of
having a smoke-free environment.

The Bukit Batok East Nature View estate has also become the first residential
estate in Singapore to impose a voluntary ban in common areas, such as void
decks, under the initiative.

Adam Road Food Centre. TODAY FILE PHOTO

Blue Ribbon award for
smoke-free food centres

AMANDA LEE
leeguiping@mediacorp.com.sg
SINGAPORE — Ten food centres
around the island have volun-
tarily removed their demar-
cated smoking zones as part
of a Health Promotion Board
(HPB) programme to encour-
age a smoke-free environment.

They were recognised by
the HPB yesterday under a Blue
Ribbon initiative for their com-
mitment. The board aims to
encourage 20 per cent of the
107 food centres islandwide
to be smoke-free by next year.

The Blue Ribbon initiative
is part of the larger smoke-free
movement that the World Health
Organization (WHO) Western
Pacific Region has embarked on.
Singapore is the first country in
the region to adopt this initiative
on a nationwide scale.

“While Singapore has one
of the lowest smoking preva-
lence in the world, recent trends
suggest arise in the prevalence,
although the vast majority of
Singaporeans are non-smok-
ers,” said Dr Amy Khor, Minister
of State for Health.

Statistics from the HPB
show that the prevalence
of smoking among adults in
Singapore has risen from 12.6
per cent in 2004 to 14.3 per
cent in 2010.

Dr Khor added that this
bottom-up approach — which
engages ordinary Singaporeans
to step forward and promote
tobacco-free living — is one of
the ways to build such smoke-
free environments.

Posters will be placed
around the 10 food centres to
inform the public of the smoke-
free policy.

“In addition to providing

ol

W WINNERS OF BLUE
RIBBON INITIATIVE
1. ABC Brickworks Market
and Food Centre
2. Adam Road Food
Centre
3. Albert Centre Market
and Food Centre
4. Ghim Moh Market
and Food Centre
5. Block 79 and 79A
Circuit Road Food
Centre
6. Block 89 Circuit Road
Food Centre
7. Kaki Bukit 511 Market
and Food Centre
8. Kovan Hougang
Market and Food
Centre
9. Upper Boon Keng
Market and Food
Centre
10. Tampines Round
Market and Food
Centre

signages, posters and ban-
ners to distinguish them as
health promoting premises for
Singaporeans keen to visit
smoke-free markets and food
centres, HPB’s health ambas-
sadors, who are trained to help
smokers quit smoking, will also
be deployed at various commu-
nity touchpoints island-wide,”
HPB chief executive officer Ang
Hak Seng said.

The HPB will work with
more hawker centres and cof-
fee shops to encourage them to
support the movement.

It will also train grassroots
organisations and health am-
bassadors who will go around
neighbourhoods to promote a
smoke-free lifestyle and en-
courage voluntary no-smoking
zones at void decks and com-
mon corridors.

Health Promotion Board
Annual Report
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REVISION OF TOBACCO LABELLING REQUIREMENTS

Leveraging the 2010 amendments made to the Smoking (Control of Advertisements and Sale of Tobacco) Act, HPB has revised

the labelling and packaging requirements for tobacco products.

From March 2013 onwards, all tobacco products will no longer be allowed to use misleading descriptors such as “light” and
“low-tar” on their packaging. Cigarettes packs will also be required to carry a new set of health warning messages, and cigarillos

will have to be sold in packs of 20.

The changes are aligned with WHO’s recommendations and are part of HPB’s comprehensive tobacco control measures, which

aim to reduce Singapore’s smoking prevalence to under 10% by 2020.

Communicable Disease Education
WORLD AIDS DAY 2011

By combining entertainment and education at the World
AIDS (acquired immune deficiency syndrome) Day 2011 on 1
December 2011, HPB has empowered more Singaporeans
with awareness and information about the human
immunodeficiency virus (HIV).

A total of 15,953 Singaporeans attended the Crazy Christmas
show, which was co-organised with Dream Academy. Using
sketches injected with local humour, awareness of the disease
was raised among the audience, in an entertaining manner.

A total of 30,000 people, including MOS Amy Khor, have
also been reached through a unique partnership with L'Oreal,
encouraging the public to sport a streak of red in their hair to
support World AIDS Day 2011.

Health Promotion Board
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Revised Singapore
National Employer
Federation Guidelines

On 27 January 2012, HPB, the Singapore
National Employer Federation (SNEF) and the
AIDS Business Alliance launched the revised
SNEF Guidelines regarding HIV and AIDS
education for the workplace.

MOS Amy Khor was the guest of honour at
the launch. The revised guidelines consist of
three tiers:

Tier One: Prevention education
(protection of staff so that they
remain HIV-negative)

Tier Two: Supportive environments that
do not discriminate against
people living with HIV (who are
employees)

Tier Three:  Workplace policies about
managing staff with HIV.

Currently, 54 companies have pledged
their commitment towards Tier One of the
guidelines, enabling 13,500 employees to
be reached.
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Companies to
get guidelines on
Aids awareness

HPB hopes at least 4,000 firms
will adopt them by end-2013;
46 have pledged their support

I By Lesuie Kay Liv

CCOMPANIES which want to educate their employ- ~ _She said: “Knowledge is different from attitude.
ees about HIV/Aids or set up a work environment You can give the person knowledge, but he has to gmm left) Mr Zulkifli Baharudin, chairman of Aids Business Alliance; Mr Ang Hak Seng, CEO of the Health Promotion Board;
supportive of those who are HIV-positive now have ~ change his attitude. We've a long way to go Amy Kor; and Dr Lim Suet Wun, council member of the Singapore National Employers Federation, hlding up a red ribbon
a set of guidelines to turn to. lim@sph.com.sg yesterday to pledge their support for workplace HIV education. ST PHOTO: ASHLEIGH Sl

Put together by the Health Promotion Board
(HPB) and the Singapore National Employers Feder-
ation (SNEF), s

ed at

sources.
the form of a booklet, the
been recast into three tiers:
employee education and suggests
workshops and seminars that can be run.

M Tier 2: For creating a supportive workplace.
‘These guidelines suggest, for example, that employ-
ers offer confidentiality and support for those living

HIV.
 Tier 3: Suggests how a company can establish of -
ficial, enforceable policies to prevent discrimina-
tion against HIV-positive employees. For example,
a company may want to outlaw firing an employee
for being HIV-positive.

Minister of State for Health and chairman of the
National HIV/Aids Policy Committee Amy Khor
said implementing the guidelines would be a “posi-
tive and useful first step” in fighting Aids.

Health Promotion Board
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Physical Activity Centre of
Excellence

The Physical Activity Centre of Excellence (PACE) was
established in 2011, with the mission of increasing physical
activity and decreasing sedentary behaviour in Singapore.

To fuffil this mission as a thought leader in the field, the centre
undertakes three key areas of work — research to practice,
education and solutions, and programme development.

Health Promotion Board
Annual Report
2011/2012

({5 1HATS ONCINE MoST READ WOST COUMENTED ON AND NORE

THE
STRAITS TIMES _ MONDAY, AUGUST 22 2011 B1

wnstomp.comsg

SNIPORE SEN

ot gos sxy: Star wows crowd
with acobati poe dancing
TOCONTC T RN 03 P 5105

10 minutes of mopping, taking stairs count too, says HPB

At the L ofthe new pysical sty pideles st
ok g o it L Eng Po () 60 a actly ht cn
S partiart i g P . €0, n sty

Staying fit?
Do it anytime,
anywhere

.
E
g
§
g
B

NATIONAL PHYSICAL ACTIVITY
GUIDELINES

The first National Physical Activity

Guidelines were launched in August 2011,
recommending that individuals engage in 150
minutes of physical activity every week — any
time and anywhere.

This approach encourages Singaporeans
1o engage in aerobic and strength activities,
which can be done at home, at work, when
commuting or at leisure.

The national guidelines provide a common
platform for the 3P sectors to unite and

promote a culture of active living in Singapore.

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY CAMPAIGN

The key messages of the National Physical
Activity Guidelines were disseminated through
the 2011 Physical Activity Campaign.

RIGHT ON TRACK: The Health Promotion Board (HPB) has placed
floor stickers at the platform of City Hall MRT station to encourage
commuters to get active. Commuters can do light walks on the
‘track’ while waiting for the train to arrive. This is in line with the
HPB’s message that exercise can be done any time, anywhere.

This campaign has utilised highly visible
channels to increase the awareness,
knowledge and uptake of the new guidelines.
These have included working with SMRT to
promote physical activity and increase stair
usage at its train stations.

The results of the campaign evaluation have
shown that 25% of Singaporeans have
become more active, and stair usage has
increased by 24%.

TNP PICTURE. SARAH CHOW

VALIDATING FITNESS ASSESSMENT METHODS

Aerobic fitness is an important indicator of how well your body functions during physical activity, and it is a key marker for overall
health and well-being.To provide Singaporeans with a simple and accurate way to measure their fithess, HPB and PACE have
led a study, collaborating with the Republic Polytechnic (RP) and Duke-NUS to validate two distinct assessment methods — the
local validation of a brisk 2km walk and the resting heart rate method.

The outcome of the study has provided more accurate and accessible ways for measuring fitness in Singapore, and these will be
used in the community, worksite and health-care sectors to help residents become fitter.

Health Promotion Board
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INTERACTIVE DIET AND ACTIVITY TRACKER

Launched in November 2011, the Interactive Diet and Activity
Tracker (iDAT) is an innovative solution designed to provide a
sophisticated exercise and diet tracking experience.

The first smart-phone application in the world to take
into consideration the body types of Asians, the iIDAT
leverages social media to provide users with a supportive
virtual community.

With an activity and food database customised for the daily
lifestyle of Singaporeans, the application has empowered more
than 50,000 users within a year of its launch.

Health Promotion Board
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DPM Teo trying out the Interactive Diet and Activity Tracker (iDAT) mobile
application before touring the exhibits at the NHLC 2011.

NATIONAL BRISK WALKING PROGRAMME

The year 2011 marked the highlight of the three-year
development and promotion of the National Brisk Walking
Programme.

HPB and PACE have worked with various governmental
partners to provide consistent awareness, education and
evaluation to support the national initiative. The whole-
of-government approach has also helped to create a
105,000-member base for the National Brisk Walking
Programme.

The final evaluation figures have shown that brisk walkers
are three times more physically active and 8% more fit than
the average Singaporean.

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY ADVICE TOOL

Evidence has shown that brief physician counselling helps to
improve one’s health behaviour.

The Physical Activity Advice Tool (PAAT) is an evidence-
based online application designed for physicians to easily
and quickly provide tailored physical activity advice for their
patients.

The tool is currently being piloted, with plans to roll it out in
2013.

of
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A healthy life and ageing well are crucial as we get on

in years. The active advocates in the Healthy Ageing
Division’s (HAD) Senior Health Ambassador Programme
play an important role in guiding Singaporeans to stay up

to date with current health information and engaging in
preventing health measures, such as screenings. This is just
one of the many ways that the division educates and helps
Singaporeans to age healthily and actively, empowering them
to enjoy a clean bill of health through the silver years.




healthy ageing division

Chronic Disease Management

Efforts in chronic disease management continue to focus on targeted education and empowering individuals with chronic
diseases to better manage their conditions.

Nurse Educators are key facilitators and promoters of healthy lifestyle practices in these patient education initiatives.

NURSE EDUCATOR PROGRAMME

During the year, Nurse Educators conducted 79 on-site counselling and health screening sessions as well as 45 health talks in
the community and at workplaces, reaching 7,184 individuals in total.

HPB'’s Nurse Educators also actively participated in large-scale events, such as the 50+ EXPO 2012.

WORLD DIABETES DAY 2011

HPB supported the Diabetic Society of Singapore (DSS) for World Diabetes Day 2011, which took place at Suntec City on 13
November 2011.

At the event, health ambassadors staffed the booth and kept the public engaged with a game about screening for chronic
diseases. Body mass index (BMI) screening was conducted by the health ambassdors as well, who referred those with BMIs
that put them at moderate to high risk of disease conditions to the Lose to Win recruitment station.

Demonstration on resistance band exercises at HPB’s Health Ambassador taking Minister Gan Kim Yong’s BMI.
World Diabetes Day 2011.
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50+ EXPO 2012

HPB took a new approach to this year’s 50+
EXPO by introducing digital media at the
healthy ageing-themed education booth.

Visitors were greeted by “gigantic iPads”
featuring various health topics, including

screening, chronic disease management,
osteoporosis and fall prevention.

In addition, the visitors had their BMI and
blood pressure measured on-site, and
received advice from HPB’s Nurse Educators
about their weight and chronic diseases,
such as diabetes, high blood pressure and
high blood cholesterol.

HPB’s booth at 50+ EXP0O2012 organised by Council of Third Age.

“STAY HEALTHY, FEEL YOUNG” ROADSHOW

To mark the first anniversary of the Senior Health Ambassador
Programme, which started the movement to build an army of
10,000 health ambassadors, the “Stay Healthy, Feel Young”
roadshow was organised at the Toa Payoh Hub on 17 and
18 March 2012.

Senior health ambassadors fronted on-site activities such

as the food pyramid game, Rummy-O and the “Know-Your-
Body” challenge, where participants learnt more about
nutrition, mental wellness, chronic disease management and
how to raise awareness of holistic healthy ageing.

The two-day roadshow attracted more than 4,000 people
who participated in booth activities. Over 100 of these
individuals aged 40 years and older signed on to become
health ambassadors.
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CAPACITY BUILDING
HPB continues to invest in capacity building for the nurses in the community.

Structured training workshops covering patient education, dietary and stress management in chronic disease care, and methods
of conducting chronic disease management were organised for 48 Nurse Educators from HPB, the Hua Mei Seniors Clinic, the
Singapore Anti-Tuberculosis Association (SATA), the Tzu Chi Foundation, Ren Ci, Econ Medicare, the Bright Vision Hospital and
the Kwong Wai Shiu Hospital.

Over the year, HPB has worked very closely with tertiary institutions to engage in capacity building among students pursuing
their nursing diplomas. A total of 23 student nurses from the Ngee Ann Polytechnic (NP) have been trained through a half-day
course that has empowered them with the skills and knowledge to assist Nurse Educators in answering health queries during
health screening sessions, health talks and events.

HEALTH-CARE PARTNERSHIPS
Reaching out to the at-risk and unhealthy population is not possible without health-care professionals.

Through partnerships with health-care institutions, general practitioners (GPs), dentists, pharmacists and other allied health-care
professionals, HPB is working towards bringing more direct access to services through an integrated screening model, with on-
site follow-up sessions at the community level.

Health Promotion Board
Annual Report
2011/2012

PHARMACIST HEALTH
AMBASSADOR PROGRAMME

Through the Pharmacist Health Ambassador
Programme (PHAP), community pharmacists
from three major retail pharmacy outlets

— Guardian, Unity and Watsons — have
effectively reached out to a total of 1,300
clients from April 2011 to March 2012,
providing members of the public with free
health advice and referrals to a range of
services, such as smoking cessation, weight
management, health screening and chronic
disease prevention and management.

On 4 December 2011, HPB presented the
Annual Pharmacist Health Ambassador
Award to the top 10 contributing
pharmacists, recognising their efforts to
deliver health advice and help their clients
adopt a healthy lifestyle.
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MANAGEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL |ntegrated Screening

DECLINE IN OLDER ADULTS

E-MODULE NATIONAL COLORECTAL CANCER SCREENING PROGRAMME

The Management of Functional Decline in In July 2011, HPB introduced colorectal cancer screening to Singaporeans using a two-day Faecal Immunochemical Test (FIT),
Older Adults e-courseware was launched on as part of the Integrated Screening Programme.

Saturday 25 February 2012 at HPB for over

100 GPs at HPB, in conjunction with the An educational campaign about colorectal cancer screening has also been launched to raise awareness of Singapore’'s number-
College of Family Physician’s skills course one cancer. The multi-pronged approach used in the campaign aims to inform Singaporeans that screening is important,

about the same topic. colorectal cancer may not show early signs and symptoms, and screening is not a one-off event.

The e-learning module was developed to In addition, the campaign encourages Singaporeans aged 50 years and older to go for regular colorectal cancer screenings.

upgrade the skills of family doctors and
other health-care professionals about
following up with older adults screened
via the Community Functional Screening Through HPB’s efforts, close to 1,700 residents have been screened for colorectal cancer.
Programme across six domains — Physical

Function, Mood, Continence, Vision,

Hearing and Oral Health. home

This learning tool is the first e-module to be Iy 3, 2011 resundayimes

As part of HPB’s 10th anniversary celebration, residents aged 50 years and older were also given healthy lifestyle tips, and the
organisation distributed FIT kits to needy residents at over 30 sites island-wide on 2 July 2011.

launched by HPB, and it is supported by S ST S
the Singapore Medical Council, which has T
gap ) i S S
; o o e e
recognised the organisation as a Category 3B K p——
. . . GRC MP Gan Kim Yong, the HPB gave
provider of distance learning, where GPs can Qs 1505 i Poicont
) o ) ) ke e ot o ol ool sy
receive Continuing Medical Education (CME) i b
points for completing HPB's e-courseware. monh S b
fied by the HPB to have a follow-up
medical appointment for further tests if
le ) in -
oo salf o Yong P o e cnce rsenng ol
cases of 640 deaths a year in Singapore. , including the cost of the kit an
ORAL HEALTH PROMOTION Comation e of et $15
. . gusalation fs of betwen 15 and
Colorectal screening programme kicks Off i bzl it
Using oral health roadshows. residents ChuaiamHow  cancers - are diagnosed. It accounts for _ aid: “By 2030, one i fve Singaporeans _dits Digh n animal fat, said the HPB.
T 640 deaths h ill be 65 and older, and the ch: of "
9 ! e Government s launched anation. . The kler shows few symptoms n ts _gettng cor%ec%l?.f?er:n%cea?;ﬁ?h monest cancer i Singaporean men and
‘wide drive to get 900,000 older Singapo- ~ €arly stages, which is why the Health  age especially after the age of 50.” after breast cancer, Reducing meat and
aged 18 to 69 years are educated about the e el Torsion ot U ST eeretrae ot et S iR
. rt f | h |th ” Evelyyea{risl,SOOnev’lcasss of the dis- scm;x;l;ng hfcuf it. g ok 50 g;amme .-:‘n ':u 12:: a;:ivelzary celeb:‘a- more, can l:‘c'!g rcdduce the risk of the

|mpo ance o gOOd oral hea ,as well as ease - one of Singapore’s most common chief executive Ang Hak Seng  tions at Chua Chu Kang Community  cancer, the HPB sai

the need for an annual dental visit.

At these roadshows, an oral health therapist
provides tips on oral care, denture care and
correct brushing techniques, using models
and educational interaction.

Through four roadshows, HPB has reached
out to over 900 participants at COMNET@Sin
Ming Senior Activity Centre (SAC), the Kolam
Ayer wellness site, the Kampong Glam CC
and Marine Parade.
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COMMUNITY SCREENING
PROTOTYPES

In 2011, HPB launched its community
screening prototypes, which aim to provide
accessible, convenient and affordable
one-stop screenings and follow-up services
for Singaporeans.

On 1 October 2011, a community one-
stop chronic disease and cancer screening
prototype was launched in Whampoa.

The prototype brings together the different
types of screenings, making it easier for
the residents. For the first time, HPB also
formed a local GP network comprising nine
GP clinics within Whampoa to support and
tighten post-screening follow-up sessions.

To improve and enhance the screening
follow-up rate, HPB introduced community-
based functional screening with basic
on-site follow-up services for residents aged
60 years and older on 4 December 2011.
The on-site follow-up services included

GP consultation, counseling, refraction
prescription by optometrists and dental
treatment on HPB’s dental bus.

HPB also integrated the two prototypes

and launched a three-in-one “One-stop
Integrated Health Screening and On-

site Follow Up” on 31 March 2012. By
collaborating with the Singapore Cancer
Society, the Singapore Optometrist
Association, the Tzu Chi Foundation and the
Singapore Action Group of Elders (SAGE),
people-centric health screening was made
more convenient and affordable.

This has provided seniors with a one-
stop platform to access the full range
of recommended health screenings
and on-site follow-up sessions by
health-care professionals.
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Lose To Win

Over the past two years, HPB'’s Lose to
Win© (LTW) Programme has successfully
helped overweight and obese Singaporeans
to lose weight the healthy way.

In 2010, 93% of the participants lost weight,
and 99% had an improved fitness index. The
LTW Motivators Programme was also set

up in December 2010 to build strong social
support networks within the community, so
that the participants can sustain their lifestyle
changes for weight loss and maintenance.

LTW Motivators are past LTW participants
who understand the challenges faced when
losing weight. As volunteers and role models,
they become buddies with new recruits,
motivating them in their personal diet and
exercise endeavours.

The LTW Motivators are also imperative in
strengthening the growing LTW community.
They do this by sharing their success stories,
encouraging their peers, forming interest
groups and promoting lively discussions on
the LTW Facebook page.

As of May 2012, a total of 50 active
LTW Motivators have been recruited.

Home
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By GweNnDoLYN NG

HEN she was encour-
aging a diabetic pa-
tient to cat healthily

several years ago, nurse Siti Sofa-
wati Yahya's words of advice
were met with a sceptical look.
She said: “The patient looked
as though he was thinking that
he couldn't take e seriously.”
The reason? Ms Sofawati, at
163em tall, was overweight and
at her heaviest then. She tipped
the scales at about 100kg. Her
ideal weight is about 60kg
Though the 27-year-old has
since lost about 15kg, she clearly
remembers the incident, which
took place during her training
days when she was in her carly

s.

She said: “As a nurse, T need
to be a role model to my pa-
tients. I can't convince them to
lead a healthy lifestyle when I'm
obese and not leading a healthy
lifestyle myself.”

Having officially embarked
on her nursing career at Alexan-
dra Hospital earlier this year,
Ms Sofawati felt it was time to
get serious and shape up.

So, when she heard that she
could register for the Health Pro-
‘motion Board's weight-manage-

Under the programme, par-
ticipants get to attend training
sessions with fitness trainers.

‘They also get personal consul-
tations with dieticians and can
attend mental well-being work-
shops. The workshops, a first for
the Lose To Win programme,
aim to help participants under-
stand the emotional aspects of
over-cating, obesity and weight
o

ss.

Previously, Ms Sofawati -
who has found out that she is a
“stress-eater” - tried everything,
from erash diets to gym work-
outs, to lose weight. But she al-
ways found it hard to stick to
her regime.

“One moment, T would have
all the motivation to lose weight
but, after some time, I lose mo-
mentum and stop exercising,”
she said.

Thanks to Lose To Win, Ms
Sofawati has discovered that

one reason for her previous laps- i

es was that - like many other
busy professionals - she was
hard-pressed to set aside an
hour or so for regular excreise.
That led her to stop her

12 WEEKS TO BETTER HEALTH

Nurse Siti gets seriously physical

KEEP TABS: HPB's iDAT app
helps one monitor his physical
activity and caloric intake.

weight-loss regimes completely.

Now, she knows that the lit-
tle things count, and she incor-
porates physical activity into dai-
Iy routines, to make up for her
inability to make time for exer-
cise.

She makes a mental note to
take the stairs instead of the es-
calator or elevator at MRT sta-
tions, at work, or on the way
back to her flat.

She said: “Now, when there's
a choice between taking the
stairs and the lft, 1 make a con-
seious effort to choose the stairs.
It's all about forming good hab-

s

ts

After a long day at work,
climbing the nine flights of
stairs to reach her Choa Chu
Kang flat may not appear to be
an attractive proposition.

9 Have “bite-sized goals” ~ one
should not be losing more than
one to two kilos a week.

2 Those embarking on a weight-
10ss mission should stive to do
150 to 250 minutes of moderate-
intensity aerobic activty per
week. Such activiles include
brisk walking, dancing and
leisure cycling.

% Those exercising for_health
benefits should try to undertake a
total of 150 minutes of moderate-
intensity or 75 minutes of high-
intensity aerobic activty per
week Highvintensty activties
include jogging and brisk walking
upahill

9 The busy professional stuck in
the ofice should try to break up.

But she said, with a chuckle:
“1 seribbled a remainder on my
arm - ‘Take stairs home!

Ms Sofawati has also learnt
that she’s more motivated to ex-
ercise if she's part of a group.

“My teammates and coaches
have very contagious positive
vibes,” she said, adding that eve-
ryone encourages each other to
stick to their weight-loss goals;

“That helps to keep her moti-
vated to exercise three times a
weck.

It was certainly action
packed when my paper dropped
in on Ms Sofawati last Tuesday
during a Lose To Win exercise
session. There, she and other
participants were undergoing
rigorous cireuit training.

Cheering them on was 2009
Lose To Win participant Jean-

ol

periods of inactiviy lasting longer
than 90 minutes. Do so with five
10 10 minutes of standing, moving
around, or doing some form of
physical activity.

£ Avoid skipping meals as there.
might be a tendency for one to
over-eat when one is hungry.

£ Keep an exercise and food log.
“The Health Promotion Board has
an Interactive Diet and Activty

SETTING AN EXAMPLE: Nurse Siti Sofawati (left) took part in the Lose To Win programme so she would come across as being
credible when advising her patients to lead a healthy lifestyle. (PHOTO: JAMIE KOH)

EASY TIPS TO GET IN SHAPE

FOR the first time in Lose To Win's
history, the joumneys of several par-
ticipants are being tracked oniine.
isit www facebook.co

losetowin to watch videos of those
Tike Ms Siti Sofawai as they
overcome personal struggles to
gain better health.

Or scan the Quick Response
(QR code below using a OR code
reader on a smartphone to find out

‘Tracker (iDAT) application to help ~ more.

monitor one’s physical activity
and calori intake, and can help
one keep on track when it comes
10 weight-oss goals. The smart-
phone app s available for (03
and Android.

Vit tp:/hpb gov.sg/idat to
find out more.

nie Ng, 43, who has since lost
about 6kg and now weighs
60kg. She volunteers her time
as a “motivator” at training ses-
sions for the current batch of
Lose To Win participants.

She herself hopes to shed two
to three kilos to reach the ideal
weight range for her height of
1.59m by joining in the group
sessions.

Like Ms Sofawati, Ms Ng, a
human-resource executive, likes
the “peer pressure” of group ex-
ercise.

“I feel more motivated to con-
tinue with exercise when T do it
as part of a group. That's why T
am involved with Lose To Win
again - to motivate others and
myself,” she said.
nggwen@sph.com.sg

Brought to you by

HELPDESK ¥
Overweight: #83 chao zhong
Convince: (E{EAR shi xin fu

Crash diets:
SRR s xid0 jan féi

Volunteers:
Zah## zh dong ti gong
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living is...

building bonds

Life is all about the bonds we create. The bonds we have
with each other play an important role in motivating us to
live healthier lives. Understanding this, the Community

Partnerships Division (CPD) works closely with different I

community and grassroots organisations to create health
promoting solutions and ecosystems within the community,
making healthy living a sustainable and viable reality for all
Singaporeans.




community partnerships division

National Healthy Lifestyle

Camypaign 2011

The annual National Healthy Lifestyle
Campaign (NHLC) was launched on 22
October 2011 by Deputy Prime Minister
(DPM) Teo Chee Hean at the Sengkang
Community Club (CC).

The NHLC 2011 celebrated the early
success of the community engagement
efforts mounted by HPB, showcasing
many of the signature prototypes aimed at
promoting health and wellbeing across the
different age groups.

The two-day event attracted more than
10,000 participants from the community,
workplaces, schools and health-

care institutions.

DPM Teo taking part in a mass aerobic workout at the launch of the NHLC 2011.

Health Promoting
Residents’ Committee
Corner

Residents’ Committee (RC) Corners are
common access points in the community.

Leveraging the accessibility of these
spaces, HPB’s CPD piloted the Health
Promoting RC Corner in Hong Kah North
Zone 6 in December 2011. The corner
serves as a nexus to connect residents in
the area, through a wide range of healthy
lifestyle activities.

Conveniently located at the void deck,

activities at the corner, such as body mass index (BMI) and
blood pressure screening, cooking demonstrations and health
talks. Health ambassadors have been instrumental in setting
up this facility, as well as sustaining the slew of ongoing
activities.

An average of 40 residents gather at the Health Promoting RC
Corner to participate in the different programmes each week.

Health Promotion in the
Community

Through its close partnership with the local community, CPD
has brought health promotion closer to the people.

Depending on the needs of the residents, different programmes
such as cooking demonstrations have been organised to
empower them to embrace healthy lifestyle practices.

CPD has also worked closely with the Admiralty constituency
to reach out to low-income families — especially those with
children — to equip the parents with the knowledge and skills
to nurture healthy lifestyle practices among their children.

Inspiring Healthy Living through
Active Citizenry

Healthy living within the community is inspired by
active citizenry.

Through continual training and the deployment of health
ambassadors, Singapore’s citizenry has also played a pivotal
role in the timely dissemination of policy-related information,
such as the Community Health Assist Scheme (CHAS) that
helps the needy access financial assistance for primary
health care.

Health Minister Gan Kim Yong attending a healthier cooking
demonstration at a Chua Chu Kang Family Wellness Day event held at
South View Primary School.

A health ambassador checking the blood pressure of an elderly resident
at an Admiralty community event.

Deep engagement and close collaboration with the local Advisers and Grassroots Leaders residents have benefited from regular
have allowed HPB to establish health promoting solutions such as the Healthier Coffeeshop in
the community.

A health ambassador taking the time to share about the Community
Health Assist Scheme with a resident.
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'Svg\}:fiﬁg the
seeds of a
healthy lifestyle

The Research & Strategic Planning Division (R&SP)
sows the seeds for a healthier Singapore by steering HPB’s
strategies and driving the organisation’s research and
analytics. This facilitates the development of plans, policies
and programmes for HPB, laying the foundation for a healthy
lifestyle for all Singaporeans. R&SP also helps to position
HPB as a thought leader in health promotion, through
strategic collaborations with regional and international
experts, as well as through sharing best practices, expertise
and knowledge.




research & strategic
olanning division

Strategic Planning
R&SP has established the targets for 2015 and 2020 with the Ministry of Health (MOH), HPB’s senior management and its
divisions.

This puts in place HPB's visionary goalposts for the next decade. In-depth analytics of priority areas have also been conducted
to help identify levers and critical sub-populations for outreach and interventions. In alignment to these, HPB'’s senior
management has validated the organisation’s vision and mission at the 2011 corporate planning retreat.

The senior management has also established the principles of Proactiveness, Sophistication and Sustainability to guide HPB’s
ground-up approach, which includes rapid prototyping and sustaining mature programmes.

The senior management retreat in Malacca, from 16 to 17 June 2011.
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Research And Analytics

In 2011, R&SP conducted applied research
and analytics to determine the factors
influencing health behaviour.

This has provided strong evidence and
new insights to plan, monitor and evaluate
HPB’s strategies, policies and programmes
for continuous improvement. The key
projects include:

o A preliminary analysis on the data
collected in the National Nutrition
Survey 2010, which provides a
summary of Singaporeans’ dietary
practices, energy intake and salt
intake, helping HPB to define
priority areas in combating obesity

o Analytics on data from the
Singapore Renal, Myocardial
Infarction, Cancer, Stroke, Donor
Care and National Trauma
Registries, with reports generated
for MOH and HPB to develop
intervention plans in these areas

o The Students’ Health Survey,
which has been extended to
cover over 4,000 polytechnic
students, to understand health
practices among Singapore’s
youth

° A pilot study covering all the
wellness sites across Singapore
to assess the impact of the
Community Functional Screening
Programme — which detects
functional decline among seniors
—and understand the factors that
influence health-seeking behaviour
among seniors
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shorten waiting times. Says Alvin Wee:
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addressing the root cause of long.
waiting times at all. No matter how
nice a bus stop is, it is after all a bus
stop. I can't understand how upgrading
them can shorten waiting time.”
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TIPS ON REDUCING SALT INTAKE

When eating at home
= Avoid foods that are salt-preserved or cured
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eating out
= Ask for less gravy.
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A Health InfoHub dashboard showing an overview of the customer satisfaction score
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° Twelve focus group discussions with over 100 Singaporeans to guide the development of HPB’s mental well-being
programmes — Working Minds and Nurture Your Mind (NYM) — which have led HPB to include relevant content in the
said programmes, such as how to identify dementia, how to spot the intermediate stages before clinical depression and
how dementia is not part of the ageing process

To facilitate the monitoring and evaluation of HPB’s programmes and functions, dashboards have been built in the Health
InfoHub, a business analytic-cum-data warehouse system that pools together data from various sources. These are in the areas
of functional screening, Workplace Health Promotion (WHP) grants and awards, and customer satisfaction for the Clinical and
Service Quality Department (CSQ) and the School Dental Service (SDS).

In the pipeline are dashboards to monitor chronic disease and cancer screening, as well as a prototype dashboard providing
demographic information according to geographical locations and key health indicators, to facilitate HPB'’s work in the community.

Positioning HPB as a Thought Leader

Besides R&SP’s key role in organising the 15th World Conference on Tobacco or Health in Singapore, the department has also
worked on the following endeavours, which have helped Singapore to shine in the international health arena:

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION COLLABORATING CENTRE (WHOCC) FOR HEALTH PROMOTION
AND DISEASE PREVENTION

R&SP fronts HPB’s collaborations with WHO. In 2011, HPB’s achievements in health promotion were showcased through:

° A case-study guide on healthy hawker food — WHO commissioned HPB to develop a case-study guide about
bringing healthy hawker food choices to the population for the capacity building of countries in addressing the rising
trend in obesity, and this guide covers HPB’s multi-sectoral ground-up efforts to harness the resources in the public,
private and people (3P) sectors, and realign them into integrated and sustainable health promoting solutions that will
support healthy diets.

° Sharing at WHO meetings — In 2011, HPB gave presentations at six WHO meetings about Singapore’s ground-up
efforts to combat obesity, the nation’s experience regarding its multi-pronged tobacco control strategy, its ground-
up efforts to encourage smoking cessation through social media, and Singapore’s Health Promoting Health Services
framework, which builds a supportive environment for health promotion
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PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

R&SP’s research and analytics work has reached the public
domain, showcasing HPB’s expertise and knowledge.

This includes the 2nd Cancer Survival Monograph, which
updates the cancer survival trends from 1968 to 2007, a review
published in the Singapore Medical Journal about Singapore’s
cancer trends from 1998 to 2009, and a poster presentation
about cancer among dialysis patients in Singapore at the 6th
Singapore Public Health & Occupational Medicine Conference.

Regionally, Singapore also shared its best practices in
managing national registries and the quality of data at the
5th National Conference on Clinical Research Malaysia, as
well as the ASEAN (Association of Southeast Asian Nations)
Non-Communicable Disease Task Force Meeting in Kuala
Lumpur, Malaysia.

A study by R&SP, which found that the overall risk of cancer increases for
patients with end-stage renal disease, was presented at the 6th Singapore
Public Health & Occupational Medicine Conference, winning the Best
Poster Award.
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positive change

The Corporate Marketing and Communications
Division (CMC) oversees the full spectrum of HPB’s
communications, empowering individuals to take ownership
of their health by employing a targeted approach. To

inspire technology-savvy Singaporeans to make positive
changes and adopt healthier practices, CMC also effectively
reaches out to the community through integrated marketing
communication efforts which harness the best of both
traditional and digital media platforms.
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Corporate
Communications

Corporate Communications focuses primarily
on raising awareness of HPB as a centre

of excellence for health promotion, disease
prevention and patient education.

As custodians of the HPB brand, Corporate
Communications also actively engages

the media, private- and public-sector
organisations, corporations, educational
institutions, and the public at large. From
April 2011 to March 2012, HPB effectively
reached the public through 2,517 media
stories in all the main media and publications,
covering campaigns, initiatives, activities and
health messages.

Reflecting HPB's efforts to be a centre

of excellence for health promotion

and education, a total of 41 visits by
representatives from diverse local and
international organisations have been hosted
as well. These include visits from officials of
government- and private-sector organisations
from the United Kingdom (UK), China, Taiwan,
South Korea, Japan, Bhutan, Mongolia,
Malaysia, Vietnam, Brunei and Thailand.

During the year, students and faculty
members from educational institutions also
visited HPB for sharing sessions.

Corporate Marketing
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This year, the Corporate Marketing Department continued its winning streak with innovative social marketing campaigns that not
only won the hearts and minds of Singaporeans, but also garnered acclaim from marketing and communications experts.

Making use of valuable consumer insights and the right mix of creativity, wit and humour, these campaigns have successfully
engaged the public, spurring positive behavioural change through effective health communications.
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“KAKI”

“Kaki” is a heart-warming story of friendship
between two buddies, Ong and Raj, who
joke and laugh together through the day.

They soon realise that not everything is

to be treated lightly when the topic of
colorectal cancer finds its way into their
conversation. The campaign has been
supported by three television commercials
(TVCs) that have breached the barriers

of colorectal cancer in a candid manner,
achieving phenomenal outcomes.

Awareness of colorectal cancer reached
77%, with more than 55% of those who
saw the TVCs expressing their intention to
be screened. As a result, screening rates
improved by more than 73 times during the
campaign period.

In addition, Singaporeans voted for the TVC

as one of their favourite local advertisements.

| Quit Champions pledging their commitment to quit smoking.

Ong and Raj gave Singaporeans a good laugh and something to think about.

I QUIT

Recognising the difficulties smokers face
in their attempts to quit smoking, the | Quit
campaign focused on sustainable ground-
up engagement by building a support
network to celebrate “quitters”.

The campaign featured real-life accounts
about quitting from ex-smokers, who shared
about their own personal experience and
motivations. The campaign has moved almost
50% of smokers to be one step closer to
quitting, resulting in a 313% increase in the
number of calls QuitLine received.

In addition, 31.5% of those who signed up
for HPB’s smoking cessation programme
have managed to successfully kick the habit
—a quitting rate that is three times higher
than the international average.
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Recognising Singaporeans’ busy lifestyle, the Let’s Get Active Together campaign has shown everyone how easy it is to achieve Man agement | ATl : Uiy | 4V A
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has a central role in strengthening existing
Decision prompters in the form of attractive visuals placed in Mass Rapid Transit (MRT) train stations island-wide resulted in a partnerships and exploring new collaborative ol N e
24% increase in the number of people taking the stairs instead of the escalators during the campaign period. opportunities to expand HPB's health ]

Public awareness of the campaign reached a high 77%, and 70.7% of those who were exposed to the campaign’s messages promotion initiatives.

have declared their intention to engage in regular physical activity. With the support of over 20 key

corporate partners across the food and
beverage (F&B), pharmaceutical, grocery
retail, information technology (IT) and
insurance industries, HPB has successfully
executed a wide range of campaigns. These
include | Quit, the National Healthy Lifestyle
Campaign (NHLC) and Lose to WIin© (LTW).

LAST MAN STANDING

HPB has launched a refreshing activation
campaign to demonstrate to Singapore’s
youth that binge drinking is not necessary to
have fun.

Instead of telling youths not to drink, HPB
wanted them to see that finishing the

night sober is more rewarding. A gigantic
breathalyser machine, complete with dazzling
lights and awesome sound effects, was
moved around the most popular nightclubs
in Singapore.

Some of HPB’s major corporate partners
include F&N, Guardian, Johnson & Johnson,
Microsoft, Nestle, National Trades Union
Congress (NTUC) Income, NTUC Fairprice,
Subway, Unilever, Unity and Watsons.

The challenge was simple — do not drink too

much and stand a chance to win great prizes
and become the “Last Man Standing”. The
engagement spilled over from on-ground

to social media, with a spike of 6,540% in
Facebook activity as the campaign went viral.

After seeing the campaign, 75% of the
youths indicated their intention to change
their drinking habits.
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Youths step up to see if they have made the cut as the “Last Man Standing” for staying sober.

Health Information
Department

The Health Information Department (HID)
comprises the Health Information Centre
(HIC), HealthZone (HZ), HealthLine and the
new Consumer Insights Unit (CIU).

HID provides its target audience with
credible health information and skills through
marketing research, interactive exhibits,
health promotion resources and telephone
and online health counselling.
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The HIC is a specialised library with resources about health education, health promotion and disease prevention.

In 2011, the centre extended its membership privileges to the public, through the implementation of a new personal membership
scheme. To educate the public about leading a healthy lifestyle, and to promote the HIC’s resources such as display models and
charts, the centre has also developed mobile exhibits about a variety of health topics.

The exhibits have been moved to several workplaces, schools, health-care institutions and community organisations. In 2011,
the HIC also embarked on an exciting journey towards online learning to enhance the health knowledge of Singaporeans.

These elearning resources have been developed for the public, and serve as training modules for HPB'’s health ambassadors.

HZ is Singapore’s only healthy lifestyle
exhibition centre, and it is a proud member
of the Museum Roundtable and the
International Council of Museums.

HZ aims to educate visitors of all ages about
the importance of good health through
engaging programmes and permanent

and roving interactive exhibits. In 2011, HZ
developed several exhibits for large-scale
events, such as the 50+ EXPO and Health

& You.

Themed “Healthy Together”, the exhibits have
brought knowledge and skills for a healthy
lifestyle to the masses in highly interactive
ways. Visitors went for blood pressure and
body mass index (BMI) screenings, got
physical with Kinect sports games, tasted
healthier recipes, played mentally stimulating
games such as Rummy-O, and signed up for
other health screenings.

In addition, HZ supported the World Conference on Tobacco or Health by developing an exhibition that showcases the
healthy lifestyle ecosystem in Singapore. This exhibition displays the various prototypes that HPB has implemented, as well
as the social marketing strategies employed in some of its successful campaigns.

HZ has continued with some of its highly successful programmes as well, such as the Holistic Health Programme. A collaboration
with the Student Health Centre (SHC), the programme enables primary school students to learn more about healthy weight
management, as they participate in fun tele-match games, pick up nutrition tips in a virtual supermarket race and learn about
grooming for greater self-esteem.

34

HealthLine, HPB's toll-free contact centre,
supports the organisation’s major campaigns,
activities and health promotion programmes.

The service provides information, advice and
personal counselling regarding health matters
and health behaviour. In 2011, the contact
centre continued to support major HPB
programmes, such as LTW and Kid’s Fun.

In FY2011, the total call volume for the
contact centre increased to 126,883 calls,
and this is expected to rise even more. The
QuitLine service from the contact centre
has also supported the | Quit programme
throughout the year.

As an extension of the service, which guides
smokers in their quitting journey, QuitLine has
launched its very first Facebook and Short
Message Service (SMS) chat facilities.

home.
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Mr Goh took up miltary scale modelling to take his mind sed to smoke 35 sticks a day,

s mind off cigarettes. He u but decided to quit
aftr suffering a minor stroke in 2009 He said it was not easy, but QuitLine helped him to do i. ST PHOTC: RAJ NADARAJAN

How QuitLine
helped smoker
stub out habit

Consultants at HPB’s hotline
made follow-up calls to help
Calvin Goh go ‘cold turkey’

1 By STacEY CHiA

h used to light 35 cig-
ub out the habit for

Set up in 2011, ClU’s main role is to facilitate the process of garnering insights through marketing research and

intelligence gathering.

The unit works closely with end-users as well, through knowledge sharing and workshop sessions, allowing information on hand
to be understood and taken into action. Since its inception, there has been much work done regardingto gain insights on the
health perspectives among youth, adult and senior citizens.

ClU has taken a targeted approach to understand the different types of youth in Singapore. Among the Institute of Technical
Education (ITE) students, a study has been done to understand their perception of health. ClU has also approached youth
clubbers and drinkers to hear what they think about stress management and other mental wellness-related issues.

In addition, CIU has supported the Community Partnerships Division (CPD) to understand how HPB'’s health ambassadors can
better serve and encourage the citizens in the South West Community Development Council (CDC) to lead a healthy lifestyle.
CIU has also collaborated with the Nutrition Department to understand shoppers’ behaviour in the supermarket, as well as their
decision-making process when making purchases. The unit has done food-tasting research regarding the food offerings from

healthier hawker centres as well.

During the year, ClIU also did marketing research on human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), acquired immune deficiency syndrome
(AIDS) and sexuality education, smoking, physical activity, cancer screening, and depression.

30
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Resource Development Services Department

The Resource Development Services Department comprises the Resource Development Unit, the Support Services Unit and the
New Media Unit.

The department produces below-the-line (BTL) resources and content for online platforms, carrying HPB’s messages to the
community. The Resource Development and Support Services Units oversee the production of these BTL resources, which
include ambient displays, banners, booklets, decals, hanging mobiles, pamphlets, pillar wraps, posters, t-shirts, table stickers,
tent-cards and videos. In 2011, more the 600 types of resources were developed.

The New Media Unit engages the online community through social media channels such as web pages, microsites, blogs,
Facebook, Twitter and online forums. The unit constantly monitors feedback via online analytics, and strives to amplify and
increase the longevity of HPB’s campaigns by engaging and bonding with the online community. In 2011, the New Media Unit
achieved 13.1 million page views for HPB’s website.

In the past year, the Resource Development Services Department rolled out the following initiatives:

INTERACTIVE DIET AND ACTIVITY
TRACKER ROADSHOWS

In line with the launch of the Interactive Diet
and Activity Tracker (iDAT), roadshows were
held during the Sungei Serangoon Park
Connector Campaign on 25 February 2012
and the NTUC U-Run event at The Float@
Marina Bay on 26 February 2012, garnering
public interest and sign-ups for the iDAT.

The iDAT is a mobile application that
calculates a user’s calorie and fat intake
based on their input, and it tracks the
calories burnt during workouts. The
application is an improved version of its
predecessor, the Diet Tracker.

The iDAT is available for the iPhone, Android,
the Blackberry and Java.
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HEALTH PROMOTING COMMUNITY
CLUBS

The first Health Promoting Community Clubs
(HPCCs) were launched at the Hong Kah
Community Club (CC) and the Hong Kah
North Zone 6 Residents’” Committee (RC) on
4 December 2011.

Both locations were decorated with colourful
installations bearing health messages to
encourage a healthy lifestyle among residents
in the area.

The launch serves as a yardstick for

other upcoming HPCCs, and it aims to
gradually instil healthy practices and values
among Singaporeans.

P thigr

HEALTHIER EATERIES
PROGRAMME

Through a partnership with the Bukit Batok
East Constituency, Food King Coffee House
at Block 233, Bukit Batok East Avenue

5, was transformed into Singapore’s first
Healthier Coffee Shop in the South West
CDC on 19 February 2012.

Other hawker centres soon jumped on
board the Healthier Eateries Programme.
The Geylang Serai Market and Food Centre,
the Haig Road Market and Cooked Food
Centre, and the Eunos Crescent Block 4A
Market and Food Centre were converted on
21 April 2012.

In an effort to educate Singaporeans about
healthier eating habits, healthier options such
as brown rice, wholegrain noodles, healthier
salt and oil lower in saturated fat have been
made available at the eateries. Decals and
dishes showing the calories contained in the

Health Promotion Board
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food have also been displayed on new menu boards, alongside other collaterals such as table stickers and banners with the
slogan, “Seriously Yummy, Surprisingly Healthier”. In addition, health ambassadors have been deployed on-site to share about
the healthier options available at the newly launched Healthier Coffee Shop with fellow residents.

These health ambassadors have also conducted simple BMI and blood pressure tests at the site, shared health tips and
information and encouraged residents to get involved in the various nutrition talks, healthy cooking demonstrations and other
healthy physical activities held at the CCs.

The New Media Unit

The New Media Unit produces resources for online media platforms to communicate HPB’s messages to technologically savvy
Singaporeans.

The unit engages the online community using a fully integrated social media marketing approach, leveraging popular social
media platforms like blogs, Facebook, Twitter, forums, YouTube and online publications.

HPB Online — a one-stop health information portal — enables constant monitoring and feedback via online analytics and
measurements, which amplify and increase the longevity of HPB’s campaigns.

Today, HPB has nearly 60,000 active fans following HPBsg, its flagship Facebook page. Breathe, HPB'’s youth-led social media
Facebook page, has nearly 20,000 fans. The New Media Unit constantly develops user-friendly Facebook applications, engaging
and interacting with HPB'’s avid fans.

To enable and empower Singaporeans to monitor and enhance their health at their convenience, HPB has produced mobile
applications that complement its programmes towards building a healthy nation.
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Some of the popular applications produced by the New Media Unit include:

1.

Healthy Chef

The Healthy Chef application provides healthier, mouth-watering recipes
created by renowned chefs, which can be searched for according to
their calorie content, and be rated and published on Facebook. The
application will adjust the amount of ingredients needed for cooking
based on the number of servings specified, and consolidate a shopping
list for one’s convenience. It also highlights products that bear the
Healthier Choice Symbol, allowing one to look out for them while
grocery shopping. Since its launch in September 2011, Healthy Chef
has achieved nearly 15,000 downloads. Download this application at:
http://itunes.apple.com/sg/app/healthy-chef/id435858652?mt=8.

. iQuit iPhone Application

The iQuit iPhone application is a 24/7 smoke-free companion that
helps users identify their smoker profile types, so as to tailor the most
effective approach for them to quit smoking. It also helps users to track
their quitting journey, and offers tips and coping strategies for users

to manage their cravings to smoke. Since its launch in June 2011,

the application has achieved nearly 18,000 downloads. Download
this application at: http://itunes.apple.com/sg/app/hpb-iquit/
id477964258?mt=8.

. iDAT

Launched by HPB towards the end of 2011, the iDAT functions as a
real-time calorie balance tracker for the health-conscious. Since its
launch, it has achieved more than 40,000 downloads, and more than
15,000 active users are tracking their workouts online and interacting
with other active users regularly. Download this application at: http://
itunes.apple.com/sg/app/idat/id470823071?mt=8.
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Health Ambassador Network Department

The Health Ambassador Network Department was formed on 1 September 2011 to create a healthy living social movement in
Singapore through HPB’s health ambassadors.

The department establishes and manages the framework for the effective recruitment, training, engagement, support, evaluation
and recognition of the health ambassadors.

¥ HealthAmbassador

HealthPromotionBoard

HEALTH AMBASSADOR NETWORK

The Health Ambassador Network was launched during the NHLC on 22 October 2011, at the Sengkang CC by Deputy Prime
Minister (DPM) Teo Chee Hean.

Coming from different age groups, HPB’s health ambassadors will be trained and equipped with the knowledge to engage in
healthy living.

Through a peer-mentoring approach, the health ambassadors will then share healthy lifestyle tips within their personal networks.
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HEALTH AMBASSADOR DAY

To recognise the outstanding contributions of
HPB’s health ambassadors, the organisation
celebrated its inaugural Health Ambassador
Day on 10 February 2012 with about 1,000
health ambassadors.

The event also saw the graduation of over
400 health ambassadors from the Health
Ambassador Training Programme.

To encourage more Singaporeans to be
part of the Health Ambassador Network,
Dr Amy Khor, the Minister of State (MOS)
for Health, stepped forth as the Chief
Health Ambassador.

I
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This has helped the team to collaborate more efficiently across the marketing mix, enabling HPB to produce more holistic and
effective campaigns.
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TRAINING OF HEALTH AMBASSADORS MOU WITH THE SAW SWEE HOCK

The training curriculum for new health ambassador recruits comprises three units that will equip them with the knowledge and SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH
functional skills required to share health information, mentor their peers and conduct simple health-related activities such as BMI The MOU between HPB and SSHSPH aims

and blood pressure screening. to facilitate a strong exchange between

applied research and policy formulation,
as well as the co-creation of innovative
solutions on the ground to meet the needs
of Singaporeans.

After their training, health ambassadors will support HPB’s educational and communication outreach efforts through their own
networks, as well as various events in community centres, clubs and constituencies.

Research is a key collaborative area, where
HPB and SSHSPH will jointly identify
research opportunities and conduct
research projects of mutual interest.
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full potential

When we help others to realise their goals for healthy living,
they can live fuller and healthier lives too. The Corporate
Services Division (CS) and Organisational Learning

& Excellence (OLE) believe firmly in this, and maintain
HPB’s standards of excellence by helping its staff to grow
and realise their full potential. Indeed, CS and OLE ensure
that HPB is healthy from within, providing crucial operational
support through human resource (HR) management, finance
management, organisational development and administration.




corporate services division and
organisational learning & excellence

Corporate Services Division

The division provides crucial operational support through human resource (HR) management, finance management,
organisational development and administration. In short, it maintains HPB’s standards of excellence by helping its staff to grow
and realise their full potential. With a healthy organisation, HPB can achieve greater heights, developing a healthier nation for all.

Human Resources
SINGAPORE HR AWARDS 2011

Organised annually by the Singapore Human Resource Institute (SHRI), the Singapore HR Awards honour and recognise
individuals and organisations that have made significant contributions in enhancing people and human capital management and
development practices.

The Leading HR Practice Awards confer a
distinct recognition on HR professionals and
organisations as employer and employee
champions that bring out the best through
sound and commendable HR and people
management practices. HPB is pleased

to announce that it is the recipient of the
Singapore HR Awards 2011 in the following
categories:

o Leading HR Leader Award, earned by
Ms Tan Seok Lee, Director, Corporate

Services

° Leading HR Practices Award in
Quiality Work-life, Physical and Mental
Well-Being

° Leading HR Practices Award in

Performance Management

The HR team at the Singapore HR Awards 2011. ) ) )
o Leading HR Practices (Special

Mention) Award in HR
Communications and Branding

These awards recognise that HPB has
consistently been on the right track in its HR
strategies, allowing employees to learn, share
and acquire knowledge that will enable them
to perform and contribute more effectively.
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RECOGNISING STAFF
CONTRIBUTIONS

HPB is pleased to announce that a total of
138 — or 18.4% — of its staff were promoted
in the Ranking & Promotion Exercise for
Work Done in 2011.These figures are the
highest since the formation of HPB in 2001.
The exercise concluded with a promotion
ceremony held on 30 March 2012, hosted by
HPB’s Chairman.

Dr Amy Khor, the Minister of State (MOS) for
Health, was the guest of honour.

DEEPENING EXPERTISE
UGRADING OPPORTUNITIES

HPB is committed to developing its staff to their fullest potential. Besides having a comprehensive learning and development
framework for all staff, HPB is pleased to announce that it has also extended its sponsorships to the Enrolled Nurses (ENs) to
upgrade themselves.

The new Enrolled Nurses Upgrading Sponsorship (ENUS) is open to ENs who wish to take their GCE ‘O’ Level subjects to qualify
for the Diploma in Nursing programme from the Nanyang Polytechnic (NYP).

STAFF SCHOLARSHIPS

HPB firmly believes that staff with potential should be provided with valuable opportunities and be groomed in the relevant areas
of expertise, so that they can contribute more effectively in health promotion.

Anticipating the needs of an ageing population and the importance of public health, HPB has awarded two of its staff
scholarships to further their studies with a Masters of Gerontology at King’s College, University of London, United Kingdom (UK),
and a Master of Public Health at the National University of Singapore (NUS).

HPB’S CENTRES OF EXCELLENCE

To further develop expertise and thought leadership among HPB’s staff, particularly in the organisation’s priority areas, two
centres of excellence — the Centre of Excellence for Nutrition (CoEN) and the Physical Activity Centre of Excellence (PACE) —
have been set up.

Helmed entirely by HPB’s staff, the COEN seeks to be a leading industry-oriented Food & Nutrition Centre in the region, driving
the co-innovation of healthier functional food solutions with Singapore’s food industry. The CoEN will also identify key and
emerging areas of nutritional concern in Singapore to guide the food industry in the development of healthier functional foods.
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The PACE will strengthen HPB's efforts to reduce Singapore’s physical inactivity, and it will spearhead research and partnerships
to build an ecosystem that promotes physical activity. The PACE will be a thought leader, a national and regional expert in

the domain of physical activity, and an innovator that makes physical activity seamless and convenient. Through continuing
education and training, the PACE will educate and empower fitness and allied health professionals, as well as the community.

In addition, there will be programmes to drive the proliferation of physical activity in the public, private and people (3P) sectors.

DEVELOPING POTENTIAL SUCCESSORS

To prepare and enhance the readiness of HPB'’s potential successors to assume greater responsibilities, the following notable
programmes were implemented in 2011:

° Acting Director and Acting Deputy Director Programme

As part of HPB'’s overall talent management framework, suitably qualified officers from across the organisation have been
identified to assume the positions of Acting Director and Acting Head of Department (HOD).The programme acts as a
test bed for budding officers to hone their leadership skills under the guidance of the Chief Executive Officer (CEQO), a
Director or a Deputy Director, before they are formally recommended for confirmation in a year.

In early 2011, one officer was appointed as the Acting Director of a new division. In September 2011, seven officers were
appointed as Acting Deputy Directors.

° Learning from the CEO

With HPB’s strong belief in leadership development, the organisation has created structures to grow as many CEOs as
possible within HPB.

These structures include the Leadership Group (LG), which comprises the CEO and the Directors, the Executive Group
(EG), which comprises the LG and the Deputy Directors, and Strategic Interest Groups (SIGs) for priority areas, which
comprise members drawn from various divisions, who are led by an EG member and mentored by an LG member. These
groups meet regularly, and, through many conversations, build a shared vision and mission, collectively developing HPB’s
policies and action plans, and honing their leadership skills on the business front in the process.

HPB'’s CEO has also shared many learning tools with the EG, such as mind maps and blue ocean strategies.

ATTRACTING TALENT

HPB has embarked on its scholarship journey since 2008.Since the start of that journey, HPB has seen a positive trend,

and is very encouraged by both the quantity and quality of its scholarship applicants. The organisation, which is ranked 12th
among the scholarship providers, is also pleased to note a 28% increase in the number of applicants this year. A total of eight
scholarships — both local and overseas — were awarded in 2010 and 2011, and HPB looks forward to building its talent pipeline
in the years to come.
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Administration
ESTATE AND FACILITIES

To create a more vibrant working environment for its staff as well as for public comfort, HPB has completed its work to enhance
its premises and facilities.

For example, the organisation has maximised its space by adding sofas along the corridor, allowing its staff to relax and have
informal discussions. It has started on the second phase of its building’s enhancement as well, by replacing obsolete dental
equipment and refurbishing its passenger lifts’ interior.

In September 2011, HPB also launched its Office Workplace Safety and Health (WSH) Guidebook, and formed a WSH
Committee to promote and support workplace safety and health within the organisation. In recognition of HPB efforts in
promoting the “Reuse, Reduce & Recycle” programme, the organisation was awarded the Eco-Office label by the Singapore
Environmental Council.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS LUNCH
HPB’s new Board of Directors will take office from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2014.

In appreciation of the invaluable contributions from the former Board Members, as well as to welcome the new ones, HPB'’s
Chairman hosted a lunch, where the organisation had the honour of having Health Minister Gan Kim Yong and MOS Amy Khor
as guests.

Chairman Lucas Chow receiving his Letter of re-appointment from HPB’s new and former Board Members with Minister Gan and MOS Khor.
Minister Gan.
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corporate services division and
organisational learning & excellence

Organisational Learning & Excellence

As HPB takes on a new ground-up, community-centric and 3P approach to inspire healthy living, the next lap of HPB’s
organisational excellence journey will focus on unlocking the organisation’s potential to harness collective wisdom and thought

leadership, building its learning, innovation and knowledge-sharing capabilities, as well as igniting the passion of its employees.

HARNESSING COLLECTIVE
WISDOM AND THOUGHT
LEADERSHIP

An integrated communications and
engagement strategy has been put in place to
communicate guiding ideas and inspire HPB's
employees about its purpose and mission.

HPB'’s LG, EG and staff champions have
engaged the organisation’s employees,
influencing change through various face-
to-face and online platforms, such as town
halls, tea sessions and LINK Kopi — a new
blog and discussion forum site on HPB’s
social intranet platform, CLICK.

CLICK was launched in 2011 with four key
purposes — to enable collaboration and
integrative work, to facilitate information,
document and record management, to
connect staff, and to build the community.

Tea session with the CEO.

Enabling and complementary organisational
structures have also been set up to
strategically drive HPB’s efforts in key
priority areas and thought leadership. An
example is HPB’s SIGs — matrix working
committees led by HODs and advised

by the LG.These cross-functional groups
harness the power of collective thinking and
wisdom to propose creative solutions for
pressing health concerns.

HPB Townhall.
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BUILDING ORGANISATIONAL CAPABILITIES

As HPB embarks on an ecosystemic approach for health promotion as well as a more integrative way of working, more
sophisticated knowledge-management tools and processes have been adopted across the organisation.These include
blue ocean strategies as strategic planning tools, mind maps to facilitate more integrated processes, rapid prototyping and
evaluation, and structured project learning frameworks to enhance learning and sharing.

To equip and prepare HPB for its new ground-up and 3P engagement approach, new competencies such as systems thinking,
account managing, negotiating and influencing are also being developed internally. HPB’s LG and EG — being the key influencers
within the organisation — are engaged in various modes of informal learning as well. These include sharing, learning and reflection
sessions.

In addition, a book club that maintains a contemporary repository of books and resources has empowered the leadership team,
enabling it to hone its personal mastery.

BUILDING CULTURE AND IGNITING PASSION

To build the desired culture and ignite the passion of its employees, HPB places special emphasis on organisation-wide
celebrations, recognising employees for their achievements.

Success stories and role-model employees are profiled and celebrated at these platforms. Community health ambassadors,
who form an integral part of the HPB family, are also invited to participate in these events.
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corporate services division and
organisational learning & excellence

LINK Fest 2011, a month-long learning and innovation festival focusing on 3P engagement, saw more than 600 places for talks
and learning journeys being snapped up.

HPB’s staff learnt from excellent and innovative organisations at the event, becoming more inspired to achieve innovations and
breakthroughs in the organisation’s 3P engagement.

The festival culminated in a finale event, where an HPB Marketplace provided employees with the opportunity to showcase
their prototypes and innovations to HPB’s senior leadership, as well as their colleagues.
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While the Public Service Week is a time to
reflect on the organisation’s purpose and
mission, and to generate a sense of pride
and common identity in the public service,
the 2011 commemoration marked the start
of a new lap of health promotion, as HPB
entered its 10th year of service to the nation.

Guest of honour Ms Lim Soo Hoon, who
was the Permanent Secretary of the Public
Service Division (PSD), the invited guests
and HPB’s staff were taken on an exciting
journey, featuring the organisation’s new
ground-up prototypes and whole-of-
Singapore approach towards sustainable
health promotion.
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corporate services division and

organisational learning & excellence

The Employee of the Year Award recognises
employees who demonstrate HPB’s values
consistently at work, and engage in proactive
knowledge sharing.

In addition to the top three awards, seven
special category awards were introduced in
2011 to profile desired behaviour relating to
HPB'’s core values.
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The Project Innovation

and Ideation Awards
recognise and reward
outstanding innovations
and project teams that have
demonstrated exemplary
teamwork.

In 2011, three teams and
three individuals received
the award.

The HPB Quality Service Award recognises
employees who consistently show high
standards of service in their work.

A total of 103 individuals received 39
Commendation Awards, 46 Silver
Awards, nine Gold Awards and nine Star
Awards. In addition, six teams received
Commendation Awards.

At the national level, 49 employees also

received the Excellent Service Award (EXSA),

in recognition of their outstanding service.
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Statement by Health Promotion Board

In our opinion,

(@ the financial statements of the Health Promotion Board (the “Board”) set out on pages 101 to 124 are properly drawn up
S0 as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Board as at 31 March 2012 and the results, changes in equity
and cash flows of the Board for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Health Promotion
Board Act (Chapter 122B) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b)  at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Board will be able to pay its debts as and
when they fall due.

The Board has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board

Lucas Chow
Chairman

Ang Hak Seng
Chief Executive Officer

14 June 2012

Health Promotion Board
Annual Report
2011/2012

Independent auditors’ report

Member of the Board
Health Promotion Board

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Health Promotion Board (the “Board”), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2012, and the income and expenditure statement, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 101 to 124.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of the Health Promotion Board Act (Chapter 122B) (the “Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement

of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Statutory Board
Financial Reporting Standards so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the state of affairs of the Board as at 31 March
2012 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Board for the year ended on that date.
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Statement of financial position

As at 31 March 2012

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements Note 2011/2012 2010/2011
$ $
Man ment’s r nsibility for compliance with | | and regulat requirement
Ma age et' s espgblsfb y ol cct)h tptha cel \ egad? d 'eguta orty fequ eme dfh » » | Non-current assets
anagement is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, n e, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposa )
Shithe II respons! r. Hring o recep exp'e o |Iv”s . . Y . au I I . 19POs Property, plant and equipment 4 8,657,339 7,941,889
of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act. This responsibility includes implementing accounting and internal )
ol t determ : b i hih o fihe Act Intangible assets 5 11,872,986 14,713,509
controls as management determines are necessary to enable compliance wi e provisions of the Act.
J v P P 20,430,325 22,655,398
. - Current assets
Auditor’s responsibility ,
o o ) ) ) ) Receivables 6 2,134,263 1,798,965
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of the financial statements. We
L ) , » ) ) Prepayments 397,242 300,157
conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. We planned and performed the compliance audit to ,
) ) ) i o ) Grant receivables 7 12,534,880 6,358,493
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of )
, , . Cash and cash equivalents 8 77,318,993 64,304,789
assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
92,385,378 72,762,404
Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the receipts, expenditure, Total assets 112,815,703 95,417,802
investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risk of material misstatement of the
financial statements from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Equity
entity’s internal control. Because of the inherent limitations in any accounting and internal control system, non-compliances may Share capital 9 20,246,033 15,185,397
nevertheless occur and not be detected. Accumulated surplus 10 36,238,947 34,268,455
56,484,980 49,453,852
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on .
’ i Current liabilities
management’s compliance. Payables and accruals 11 35,764,985 27,516,605
Ooini Grants received in advance 7 2,751,386 2,038,904
inion
| pinion - 38,516,371 29,555,509
1 ouropinion: Non-current liabilities
(@)  the receipt, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Board during the year Deferred capital grants 12 6,163,273 8,028,612
are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the Act; and Obligations in respect of pension scheme 13 11,651,079 8,379,829
17,814,352 16,408,441
(@  proper accounting and other records required have been kept, including records of all assets of the Board whether Total liabilities 56,330,723 45.963,950
purchased, donated or otherwise. Total equity and liabilities 112,815,703 95,417,802

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
14 June 2012

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Income and expenditure statement
Year ended 31 March 2012

Income

Service maintenance income
Interest income

Other income

Expenditure

Staff costs

Operating supplies and services
Publicity and public relations
Information technology services
Input goods and services tax
Amortisation of intangible assets
Rental of premises

Repairs and maintenance

Staff welfare and development
Research and reviews
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Subventions to polyclinics

Other services and fees

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible asset

Communications

Board members’ allowance
Audit fee

Bad debts written off

Deficit before grants

Grants

Government operating grants
Non-government operating grants

Deferred government capital grants amortised

Surplus/ (Deficit) for the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Note

2011/2012
$

1,416,318

420,716
2,092,116
3,929,150

(60,286,622)
(38,813,506)
(19,393,125)
(12,299,610)
(4,913,493)
(4,540,649)
(3,163,098)
(2,896,737)
(2,805,839)
(2,736,822)
(2,331,315)
(2,242,722)
(2,042,764)
(1,623,391)
(1,466,826)

(97,188)

(57,000
(161,710,707)
(157,781,557)

158,718,072
1,271,519
3,178,374

163,167,965
5,386,408

201072011
$

1,402,585

365,302
1,068,487
2,826,374

(60,447,653)
(28,291,382)
(12,915,762)
(9,874,162)
(4,285,851)
(6,419,252)
(3,001,119)
(2,813,726)
(2,397,148)
(2,323,646)
(3,316,761)
(2,225,349)
(2,046,314)
(155,513)
(1,443,282)
(71,250)
(38,000)
(3,204)
(142,069,374)
(139,243,000)

129,813,781
2,157,576
5,835,219

137,806,576
(1,436,424)

Statement of comprehensive income
Year ended 31 March 2012

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income

Actuarial losses on obligations in respect of pension scheme
Total comprehensive income for the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

2011/2012
$

5,386,408

(3,415,916)
1,970,492

113

2010/2011
$

(1,436,424)

(1,436,424)
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Statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 March 2012

Statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 March 2012

Share Accumulated Note 2011/2012 2010/2011
capital surplus Total $ $
$ $ $
Cash flows from operating activities
Deficit before grants (157,781,557) (139,243,000)
At 1 April 2010 10,124,903 35,704,879 45,829,782 | Adiustments for
‘ TOt.al' comprehensive income for the year ‘ Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 2,331,315 3,316,761
‘Defiit for the year . ) (1,436,424) (1.436.424) Amortisation of intangiole assets 5 4,540,649 6,419,252
‘ Other oomprehenswe |r-100me . ) i ‘ Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 1,623,391 155,513
Total comprehensive income for the year - (1,436,424) (1,436,424) Govemment grants received 154 497 510 130 744 596
Other grants received 1,411,211 1,020,791
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity Interest income (420,716) (355,302)
Contributions by owners 6.131 ’803 4 058’611
Issue of ordinary shares 5,060,494 - 5,060,494 Change in working capital: o o
At 31 March 2011 15,185,397 34,268,455 49,458,852 Receivables and prepayment (432,383) (740,982)
- Payables and accruals 8,250,915 (2,305,359)
‘At 1 April 2011 o 15,185,397 34,268,485 49,453,852 Obligations in respect of pension scheme (144,6606) (467,322)
‘ Total comprehensive income for the year Net cash from operating activities 13,805,669 544,948
‘ Surplus for the year - 5,386,408 5,386,408
‘ Other comprehensive income Cash flows from investing activities
‘Actuarial losses on obligations in respect of pension scheme - (8,415,916) (3,415,916) Interest received 420.716 355.302
Total comprehensive income for the year = 1,970,492 1,970,492 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,039,223) (3,185,806)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity and intangible assets 163.786 )
Co”t”b”t'ohs by owners Purchase of intangible assets (3,397,380) (7,304,264)
Issue of ordinary shares 5,060,636 } 5,060,636 Net cash used in investing activities (5,852,101) (10,134,768)
At 31 March 2012 20,246,033 36,238,947 56,484,980
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares 5,060,636 5,060,494
Net cash from financing activities 5,060,636 5,060,494
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 13,014,204 (4,529,326)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 64,304,789 68,834,115
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8 77,318,993 64,304,789

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

Health Promotion Board Health Promotion Board
Annual Report Annual Report
2011/2012 2011/2012



Notes to the financial statements

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board Members on14 June 2012.

1 Domicile and activities
Health Promotion Board (the “Board”) was established on 1 April 2001 under the provisions of the Health Promotion
Board Act (Chapter 122B) (the “Act”) and is under the purview of the Ministry of Health. As a statutory board, the Board is
subject to the directions of the Ministry of Health, and is required to implement policies and policy changes as determined
by its supervisory ministry. The Board’s registered office is located at 3 Second Hospital Avenue, Singapore 168937 .

The Board is also registered as a charity (Registration No: 01810) under the Charities Act (Chapter 37) since 17
September 2004.

The principal activities of the Board are to:

(@)  advise the Government, either of its own motion or upon request made to it by the Minister, on all matters connected
with the promotion of good health and healthy lifestyles amongst the people of Singapore, including the formulation
of policies, the creation of conditions and the provision of public facilities that are conducive to the promotion of
good health and healthy lifestyle amongst the people of Singapore;

(b)  devise, organise and implement programmes and other activities for or related to the promotion of good health
and healthy lifestyle amongst the people of Singapore, health education programmes and programmes and other
activities for or related to the prevention or detection of diseases;

(c)  collaborate with any organisation to devise, organise and implement, or to provide support or assistance to any
organisation in devising and implementing any of the programmes or activities referred to in paragraph 1(b);

(d)  monitor and conduct investigations and research into any matter relating to the health and nutritional statuses of the
people of Singapore;

(e)  promote a healthy food supply in Singapore;

) determine, establish and recommmend nutritional standards and dietary guidelines, and guidelines for the provision of
nutritional information;

(99 provide healthcare services (including medical, dental, health-screening and immunisation services) to school
children and such other persons or class of persons as the Board thinks fit;

(h)  provide consultancy services to Government departments, members of the healthcare industry and the private
sector on matters relating to health education, the preservation and promotion of health, healthy lifestyles and
healthy dietary practices and the prevention and detection of diseases; and

(i) represent the Government internationally on matters related to or connected with health education, the preservation
and promotion of health and the prevention and detection of diseases.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.
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21

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Statutory Board Financial
Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”). SB-FRS include Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards, Interpretations of SB-
FRS and SB-FRS Guidance Notes as promulgated by the Accountant-General.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except as otherwise described below.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Board’s functional currency.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SB-FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are described in note 13
— Obligations in respect of pension scheme.

Change in accounting policies

Identification of related party relationships and related party disclosures

From 1 April 2011, the Board has applied the revised SB-FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures (2010) to identify parties that
are related to the Board and to determine the disclosures to be made on transactions and outstanding balances, including
commitments, between the Board and its related parties. Revised SB-FRS 24 improved the definition of a related party in
order to eliminate inconsistencies and ensure symmetrical identification of relationships between two parties.

Revised SB-FRS 24 provided an exemption for government-related entities from the need to provide the full disclosures as
required under revised SB-FRS 24. Government-related entities could now opt to provide disclosures only in respect of
those related party transactions which are considered to be individually or collectively significant. In this respect, the Board
has elected to apply the modified disclosure exemptions provided by revised SB-FRS 24.

The adoption of revised SB-FRS 24 affects only the disclosures made in the financial statements. There is no financial
effect on the results and financial position of the Board for the current and previous financial years.
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Notes to the financial statements

3.1

Accounting for employee benefits

From 1 April 2011, the Board has early adopted SB-FRS 19 Employee benefits in accounting for employee benefits.
The new SB-FRS require actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit plans to be recognised immediately in other
comprehensive income, with service cost and net interest on defined benefit plans being recognised in income and
expenditure statement

Previously, the actuarial gains or losses were accounted for under the corridor method. At each valuation date, the total
present value of obligation is compared to the book amount to determine the actuarial gain or loss. Any actuarial gain or
loss which exceeds 10% of the present value of the plan obligations will then be amortised to the income and expenditure
statement over the average expected remaining working lives of the pensionable employees.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements, and have been applied consistently by the Board, except as explained in note 2.5, which addresses changes
in accounting policies.

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working
condition for its intended use, and the cost of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of
that equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised net within other income/ other
expenses in the income and expenditure statement.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Board and its cost
can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the
income and expenditure statement as incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is recognised in the income and expenditure statement on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment.
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3.2

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Computers 31to 5 years
Leasehold improvement 8 years
Furniture and fittings 8 years
Other equipment 3 to 10 years
Medical equipment 8 years
Motor vehicles 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted
as appropriate.

Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial assets

The Board initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial
assets are recognised initially on the trade date , which is the date that the Board becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

The Board derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is
created or retained by the Board is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Board classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following category: loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such
assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalent, and receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, with Accountant General’s Department and on hand.

Non-derivative financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Board becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Board derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Board has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Board classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following category: other financial liabilities.
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3.3

Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise payables and accruals.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that

a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an
amount due to the Board on terms that the Board would not consider otherwise, or indications that a debtor or issuer will
enter bankruptcy.

The Board considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset and collective level. All
individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant receivables
found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet
identified. Loans and receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping
together loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Board uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and
the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions
are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Board’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (‘CGU”) is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets
or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or groups of CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in the income and expenditure statement.
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3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss

has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Board, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised in the income and expenditure
statement on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years, from the date on which they are available
for use.

Capital work-in-progress and computer software under development

Capital work-in-progress and computer software under development are stated at cost. Expenditure relating to the
capital work-in-progress are capitalised when incurred. No depreciation is provided until the capital work-in-progress is
completed and the related property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are ready for use.

Grants

Government grants and contributions received by the Board from other organisations for the purchase of depreciable
assets are taken to grants received in advance account in the first instance. They are taken to the deferred capital grants
account upon the utilisation of the grants for the purchase of assets which are capitalised.

Deferred capital grants are recognised in the income and expenditure statement over the periods necessary to match the
depreciation and write off of the assets purchased or donated, with the related grants. Upon the disposal of property,
plant and equipment, the balance of the related deferred capital grants is recognised in the income and expenditure
statement to match the net book value of the property, plant and equipment disposed.

Government and other grants received by the Board to meet operating expenses are recognised as income in the year
these operating expenses were incurred and there is reasonable assurance that the Board will comply with the conditions
attached to it. Government grants are accounted for on the accrual basis.

Government grants are grants received from government bodies, including statutory boards. Funds received from all other
organisations are classified as non-government grants.

Leases

Where the Board has the use of assets under operating leases, payments made under the leases are recognised in
the income and expenditure statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received
are recognised as an integral part of the total lease payment made. Contingent rentals are charged to the income and
expenditure statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Health Promotion Board
Annual Report
2011/2012



Notes to the financial statements Notes to the financial statements

3.8 Employee benefits 3.9 Revenue recognition
Defined contribution plan Interest income
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions
to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income and expenditure Service maintenance income
statement in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. Service maintenance income is recognised when the service is rendered.
Employee leave entitlement 3.10 New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Employee entitiements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are effective for the annual periods
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date. beginning after 1 April 2011 have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to

have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Board.
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Board has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Post employment benefits

Cost of providing defined benefit retirement benefit scheme (the “HPB Pension Scheme”) is determined using the projected
unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at least once in three years. The present value of obligation
for all pensionable employees is determined by projecting each active employee’s benefits accrued from the starting date
of their service with the Board (i.e., 1 April 2001) up to the valuation date, allowing for salary increases and the probability
of earlier exits, and discounted using a long-term discount rate. The obligations to existing pensioners under the HPB
Pension Scheme are calculated as the present value of pensions payable to the pensioners for their remaining lifetime.

At each valuation date, the total present value of obligation is compared to the book amount to determine the actuarial gain
or loss. The Board recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from post employment benefits in other comprehensive
income and all expenses related to defined benefit plans in personnel expenses in income and expenditure statement.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested since the starting date of the
pensionable employees’ service with the Board.
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4 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold Furniture Motor Capital work-in-

Computers improvement and fittings Other equipment Medical equipment vehicles progress Tota}s!
Cost
At 1 April 2010 8,960,499 9,699,654 530,218 3,202,521 11,135,961 383,612 1,747,932 35,660,297
Additions 23,800 2,206,208 5,775 103,885 252,731 - 593,407 3,185,806
Reclassifications 1,694,382 53,550 - - - - (1,747,932) -
Disposals/ written off (946,841) - - (41,410) (151,980) - - (1,140,231)

At3iMach20tt 9731840 1190412 58598 3264996 11286712 38§12 593407 G7705872

At 1 April 2011 9,731,840 11,959,412 535,993 3,264,996 11,236,712 383,512 593,407 37,705,872
Additions 1,686,475 - 9,300 28,499 1,321,744 - 93,205 3,039,223
Reclassifications 593,407 - - - - - (5693,407) -
Disposals/ written off (3,499,238) (1,551,319) (35,601) (124,530) (290,911) - - (5,501,599)

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2010 8,019,135 7,007,477 479,075 1,858,823 9,733,851 333,579 - 27,431,940
Depreciation for the year 1,566,455 911,601 14,724 288,733 529,649 5,599 - 3,316,761
Disposals/ written off (793,010) - - (41,410) (150,298) - - (984,718)
At8iMachzott 8792880 7919078 4e379%9 2106146 10118202 &9A78 - 20763983
At 1 April 2011 8,792,580 7,919,078 493,799 2,106,146 10,113,202 339,178 - 29,763,983
Depreciation for the year 956,714 786,899 7,582 225,746 348,774 5,600 - 2,331,315
Disposals/ written off (3,495,332) (1,463,352) (35,601) (124,044) (290,812) - - (5,409,141)

Carrying amount
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5 Intangible assets The ageing of receivables at the reporting date is:
Computer
Computer software under 2011/2012 2010/2011
software development Total $
$
Cost _ Not past due 2,095,683 1,399,648
At 1.Apr|l 2010 27,680,774 4,850,182 32,530,956 Past due 0 - 30 days 7437 349,134
AddItIOI’].SI | 4,740,449 2,563,815 7,304,264 Past due 31 — 60 days 45 46,699
R?cla33|f|cat|ons 4,263,762 (4,263,762) - Past due 61 — 90 days 2465 3.202
Disposals (4,747,611) - (4,747,611) Past due 91 — 120 days 27,347 }
At8iMach2ott 31937874 8150285  35087,609 More than 120 ays 1,286 262
Additions 2,619,073 878,307 3,397,380
Reclassifications 2,203,293 (2,2083,293) - Based on historical default rates, the Board believes that no impairment allowance is necessary. These receivables mainly
Disposals (8,769,377) - (3,769,377) arise from customers that have a good payment record with the Board.

Concentration of credit risk relating to receivables is limited since they are recoverable from Ministries and Government

N Agencies
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2010 18,702,459 - 18,702,459 . . .
!D ' _ 7  Grant receivables/(grants received in advance)
Amortisation charge for the year 6,419,252 - 6,419,252
Disposals (4,747,611) - (4,747,611)

Grant receivables
The movement of grant receivables at the reporting date is as follows:

At 1 April 2011 20,374,100 - 20,374,100
Amortisation charge for the year 4,540,649 - 4,540,649 2011/201; 201 °/2°1;
Disposals (2,072,123) - (2,072,123)
At81March2012 22842626 - 22842626 (a) Government
At beginning of year 6,358,493 8,113,414
Carrying amount Deferred capital grants 973,084 739,851
Recognised in the income and expenditure statement for the year 19,213,364 11,591,682
Receipts (14,010,061) (14,086,454)
At end of year 12,534,880 6,358,493

6  Receivables (b) Non-government

2011/2012 2010/2011
$ $ At beginning of year - 121,539
Recognised in the income and expenditure statement for the year - (71,539)
Trade receivables 105,564 491,525 Receipts - (50,000)
Amount due from Ministry of Health 1,086,663 261,428 At end of year - -
Security deposits 251,792 243,719

The Board’s primary exposure to credit risk arises through its grant receivables. Concentration of credit risk relating to
grant receivables is limited since they are recoverable from Ministries and Government Agencies.
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Grants received in advance

The movement in grants received in advance during the year is as follows:

(c)

(d)

Government

At beginning of year

Grants received during the year

Deferred capital grants

Recognised in the income and expenditure statement for the year
At end of year

Non-government

At beginning of year

Grants received during the year

Recognised in the income and expenditure statement for the year
At end of year

Total grants received in advance at end of the year

Government operating grants
Transferred from grants receivables
Transferred from grants received in advance

Non-government operating grants
Transferred from grants receivables
Transferred from grants received in advance

8 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows consist of the following:

Cash at bank and on hand
Cash with Accountant General’s Department
Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement

Health Promotion Board
Annual Report
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Note

2011/2012
$

1,930,618
140,417,449
(339,951)
(139,504, 708)
2,503,408

108,286
1,411,211
(1,271,519)

247,978
2,751,386

2011/2012
$

19,213,364
139,504,708
158,718,072

1,271,519
1,271,519

2011/2012
$

5,926
77,313,067
77,318,993

2010/2011
$

2,251,009
118,658,142

(756,434)

(118,222,099)
1,930,618

1,366,610
970,791

(2,229,115)
108,286

2,038,904

2010/2011
$

11,591,682
118,222,099
129,813,781

(71,539)
2,229,115
2,157,576

2010/2011
$

10,665
64,294,124
64,304,789

Notes to the financial statements
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Share capital
No. of shares

2011/2012 2010/2011
Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of year 15,185,397 10,124,903
Issue of share capital 5,060,636 5,060,494
At end of year 20,246,033 15,185,397

During the year, the Board issued 5,060,636 shares (2010/2011: 5,060,494 shares) to the Minister for Finance under
Section 22A of the Health Promotion Board Act for a total consideration of $5,060,636 (2010/2011: $5,060,494) to
provide funds for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

The shareholder is entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time.

Capital management
The Board defines “capital” as share capital and accumulated surplus. The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital
base to safeguard the ability to meet its long-term needs and to maintain creditor and market confidence.

There were no changes in the Board’s capital management approach during the year. The Board is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

Accumulated surplus
The accumulated surplus would be used to fund scholarship and sponsorships for under-graduate and post-graduate
studies to build capacity and to fund operational deficits when they arise.

Payables and accruals

2011/2012 2010/2011

$ $

Trade payables and accruals 35,227,780 26,960,436
Amount due to the Ministry of Health 155,365 158,999
Security deposits 381,840 397,170
35,764,985 27,516,605

The contracted undiscounted cash outflows on trade payables and accruals are expected to approximate their carrying
amounts and to be settled within one year.
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Deferred capital grants

2011/2012 2010/2011

$

At beginning of year 8,028,612 12,367,546
Amount transferred from government grants 1,313,035 1,496,285
9,341,647 13,863,831

Amount transferred to income and expenditure statement

- to match depreciation funded by the government (949,391) (2,046,107)
- to match amortisation funded by the government (1,946,199) (8,720,599)
- to match net book value of assets disposed (282,784) (68,513)
(3,178,374) (5,835,219)

At end of year 6,163,273 8,028,612

Obligations in respect of pension scheme
The Board operates an unfunded defined retirement benefit plan for certain employees under the provisions of the Pension
Act (Chapter 225, 2004 Revised Edition). The pension fund was set up by the Board on 1 April 2001.

The Board performed an actuarial valuation to determine the liability of the Board in respect of its defined retirement benefit
plans. The amount of contribution is based on the actuarial valuation performed by Actuarial Consulting Group in this
financial year.

2011/2012 2010/2011
$ $
Present value of unfunded obligations 11,651,079 8,322,000
Unrecognised actuarial loss - 57,829
11,651,079 8,379,829

Movements in the net liability recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:
2011/2012 2010/2011
$ $
At beginning of year 8,379,829 8,847,151
Amounts recognised in the income and expenditure statement 341,787 848,000
Actuarial loss recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 3,415,916 -
Benefits paid (486,453) (1,315,322)
At end of year 11,651,079 8,379,829
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The amounts recognised in the income and expenditure statement are as follows:

2011/2012 2010/2011

$ $

Current service costs 179,055 554,000

Interest on obligation 162,732 152,000

Actuarial loss recognised - 142,000

Total included in staff costs 341,787 848,000
Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:

2011/2012 2010/2011

% %

Discount rate 2.10 2.00

Future salary increases 0.32 1.00

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables. The expected retirement age is at 62
years old (2010/2011: 60 years old).

Sensitivity analysis
A 25 basis points change in discount rate at the reporting date would have increased/ (decreased) surplus for the year by
the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant:

25 bp increase 25 bp decrease
Effect on service cost 4,166 (4,372)
Effect on defined benefit obligation 319,912 (836,143)

A 25 basis points change in future salary increment rate at the reporting date would have increased/ (decreased) surplus
for the year by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant:

25 bp increase 25 bp decrease
Effect on service cost (1,099) 1,090
Effect on defined benefit obligation (38,758) 38,442
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Health Promotion Board

Source of estimation uncertainty

Pension expense is determined using certain actuarial estimates and assumptions relating to the discount rate used in
valuing the defined benefit obligation and future expectations such as future salary increases, retirement age, and mortality
rate of covered employees. These estimates and assumptions directly influence the amount recognised in the income and
expenditure statements.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Board if the Board has the direct

and indirect ability to control the party, jointly control or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and 15
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Board and the party are subject to common control or common significant

influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

During the financial year, the Board engaged in various transactions in the ordinary course of its operation with entities
related to the Board at prevailing prices or on customary terms and conditions. These transactions could have been
replaced with transactions with other parties on similar terms and conditions.

Nature and amount of individually significant transactions

2011/2012 2010/2011

$ $

Rental of premises from Ministry of Health 2,964,444 2,898,324
Information technology services from Infocomm Development

Authority of Singapore 5,530,919 4,379,582

Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel of the Board are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Board.

Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

2011/2012 2010/2011 16
$ $
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 2,428,705 2,280,657
Post employment benefits 287,093 96,737
2,715,798 2,377,394

Annual Report
2011/2012

152

Notes to the financial statements

The remuneration of the top three key executives of the Board are disclosed in bands as follows:

2011/2012 2010/2011
$500,000 to $600,000 1 -
$400,000 to $500,000 - 1
$300,000 to $400,000 2 2

3 3
Commitments
Capital commitments
Capital commitments approved but not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:
2011/2012 2010/2011
$ $
Commitments in respect of contracts placed as at reporting date 3,343,000 2,842,000

Lease commitments
Commitments in relation to operating leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, are
payable as follows:

2011/2012 2010/2011
$ $

Payable:
Within 1 year 27,000 3,017,000
After 1 year but within 5 years - 17,000
27,000 3,034,000

Financial risk management

Overview

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Board. The Board has a system of controls in place to create an
acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The management monitors
the Board’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved.
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The Board has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
° Liquidity risk

° Credit risk

° Market risk

This note presents information about the Board’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Board’s objective, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Board’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are
included throughout these financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Board has minimal exposure to liquidity risk as its operations are funded by government grants. The Board has
ensured sufficient liquidity through the holding of highly liquid assets in the form of cash and cash equivalents at all times
to meet its financial obligations.

Credit risk
The Board’s exposure to credit risk is minimal as its surplus cash is placed with financial institutions with good credit ratings.

At the reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the statement of financial position.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates will affect the
Board’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Interest rate risk
The Board’s exposure to interest rate risk is minimal as it arises mainly from cash placed with Accountant-General’s
Department.

Foreign currency risk
The Board’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal as it transacts mainly in Singapore dollars.

Fair values
The notional amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including cash and cash

equivalents, grants and other receivables, and other payables and accruals) are assumed to approximate their fair values
because of the short period to maturity. All other financial assets and liabilities are discounted to determine their fair values.

- THIS PAGE HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK -

Health Promotion Board
Annual Report
2011/2012



- THIS PAGE HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK -

a coal production
www.coal.com.sg



L/

7

Health
Promotion
Board

Health Promotion Board

3 Second Hospital Avenue,
Singapore 168937

Tel: +65 6435 3500

Fax: +65 6438 3848
www.hpb.gov.sg



